INSIGHT ON CANCER

news and information on nutrition and cancer prevention volume two – supplement two: Ontario's food security and cancer prevention

- More than 1 in 10 Ontario adults were food insufficient
- Low socioeconomic status has the strongest association with food insufficiency
- > Ontarians who:
 - are lone adults with or without children younger than 18 years
 - are new to Canada within the last 20 years
 - are current smokers
 - have fair or poor health
 - think vegetables and fruit are too expensive or good quality produce is not available

are more likely to live in a food insufficient household

- Women who live in a food insufficient household are less likely to:
 - eat 5+ servings of vegetables and fruit daily
 - have a healthy body weight
 - believe they need 5+ servings of vegetables and fruit daily
 - be confident they will eat more vegetables and fruit in the next month

putting them at increased risk of developing certain types of cancer

Barriers, such as food insufficiency, prevent adequate intake of foods that reduce the risk of cancer



insight on cancer volume two – supplement two April 2005



Insight on Cancer is a series of joint Cancer Care Ontario and Canadian Cancer Society (Ontario Division) publications, designed to provide up-to-date information for health professionals and policy-makers about cancer and cancer risk factors in the province.



Canadian Société Cancer canadienne Society du cancer

www.cancer.ca



www.cancercare.on.ca

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge important contributions to the design, implementation and evaluation of the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey:

- John Garcia, formerly of Cancer Care Ontario, provided overall vision and leadership;
- Loraine D. Marrett, Cancer Care Ontario, provided leadership as the principal investigator of the survey and as chair of the Nutrition Survey Steering Group;
- Victoria Nadalin, Cancer Care Ontario, co-ordinated the survey development and implementation;
- Members of the Nutrition Survey Steering Group (David Northrup, York University; Mary-Jo Makarchuk, Toronto Public Health; Meera Jain and Helen Brown, Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; Judy Paisley, Ryerson University; and Eric Holowaty, Nancy Kreiger, Paul Ritvo and Peggy Sloan, Cancer Care Ontario) provided expertise, advice and support;
- Katherine Gray-Donald and Louise Johnson-Down, McGill University, conducted a validation study of the food frequency instrument, which was financially supported by Toronto Public Health; and
- Christine Friedenreich, Alberta Cancer Board, and Fran Thompson, U.S. National Cancer Institute, generously provided advice in their specific areas of expertise.

The authors gratefully acknowledge important contributions to the review of this article: Erica Di Ruggiero, Canadian Institutes of Health Research – Institute of Population and Public Health, and Volunteer, Canadian Cancer Society (Ontario Division); Mark Nord, U.S. Department of Agriculture; Val Tarasuk, University of Toronto; and Nancy Kreiger, Loraine D. Marrett, and Karen Ramlall, Cancer Care Ontario.

The authors also thank the following Cancer Care Ontario staff: Christine Naugler for providing editorial support, and Karen Ramlall for writing the executive summary. The editors of the *Insight on Cancer: News and Information on Nutrition and Cancer Prevention* supplement series are:

Loraine D. Marrett^a Melody Roberts^b

Published and distributed by the Canadian Cancer Society (Ontario Division). The authors of this report are:

Melody Roberts^b Michael Innes^a Christine Lyons^a

a Cancer Care Ontario

b Formerly of Cancer Care Ontario; Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, Public Health Branch, Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion Division

Citation: Material appearing in this article may be reproduced or copied without permission; however, the following citation to indicate the source must be used:

Cancer Care Ontario: Insight on Cancer. News and Information on Nutrition and Cancer Prevention, Volume 2 – Supplement 2: Ontario's Food Security and Cancer Prevention. Toronto: Canadian Cancer Society (Ontario Division), 2005.





Canadian Société Cancer canadienne Society du cancer

Disclaimer

The tables and figures in this report contain information from the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey. Cancer Care Ontario made efforts to ensure accuracy of this information at the time of writing this report. However, errors may be discovered as data analysis continues. Results in future reports may therefore differ slightly from those presented here.

2

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	2
Citation	2
Disclaimer	2
Context	4
About Cancer Care Ontario	4
Definitions	4
Executive Summary	5
What is food security?	8
What are the key elements behind the concept of food security?	8
How is household food insecurity relevant to cancer prevention?	9
What is the ONCPS about?	10
Findings from the ONCPS	13
Food Adequacy and Availability	13
Economic Access	14
Food Insufficiency and Geographic Variation	14
Food Insufficiency and Urban and Rural Households	15
Food Insufficiency and Level of Education and Household Income Adequacy	15
Food Insufficiency and Household Composition	17
Sex	17
Age	18
Household Composition	18
Immigrant Status	19
Food Insufficiency and Other Health Risk Factors	20
Smoking Status	20

Self-Reported Health	21
Number of Chronic Conditions	21
Perception of Cost and Availability	22
Food Adequacy, Availability and Insufficiency Related to Vegetable and Fruit Consumption	22
BMI and Physical Inactivity	24
Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs, and Self-Efficacy	26
What are the policy implications?	27
Availability Issues	30
Access and Household Food Insufficiency	30
Smoking	30
Implications for Further Monitoring and Surveillance	33
Conclusion	33
Appendix 1: What were the primary objectives of the survey relevant to food insecurity, dietary risk factors and cancer prevention in the adult population of Ontario?	34
Appendix 2: ONCPS Questions Applicable to the Food Security Supplement	38
Appendix 3: Demographic Profile of the Survey Sample	38
Appendix 4: Data Tables	44
Appendix 5: Glossary of Terms, Data Sources and Methods	49
References	54

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca

CONTEXT

About Cancer Care Ontario

ancer Care Ontario is the government's principal adviser on cancer issues, with a mission to improve the performance of the cancer system by driving quality, accountability and innovation in all cancer-related services. In addition to working in partnership with hospitals providing cancer care across the province, Cancer Care Ontario directly manages the Ontario Breast Screening Program, the Ontario Cervical Screening Program, the Ontario Cancer Registry and the New Drug Funding Program, and runs a multifaceted program in cancer research. In its prevention blueprint, Cancer Care Ontario declares that cancer prevention is the best opportunity to reduce cancer deaths in Ontario. Cancer Care Ontario maintains that one of its main strategies to do this is to eliminate the causes of cancer and prevent the disease from getting started in the first place. Cancer Care Ontario singles out tobacco use, unhealthy diets and physical inactivity as significant causes of cancer.^{1,2}

Definitions

Definitions are provided for a number of terms used throughout this report. These terms are identified with the symbol: The definition of some words can be found in the Glossary of Terms at the end of this report. Words that have definitions are only identified the first time they are used.

Appendices

The interested reader is encouraged to refer to the Appendices at the end of this report for more details regarding the survey questions, the sample, data tables and statistical information, including methodology and the limitations of the survey data and its interpretation.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

ood security refers to the availability, adequacy and accessibility of food to all individuals and families. Conversely, food insecurity exists whenever the availability of nutritionally adequate and safe foods or the ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways is limited or uncertain. In this second supplementary report on the findings of the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, the results around food security are examined.

The Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey (ONCPS), conducted in 2001–2002 by Cancer Care Ontario and several partners, solicited information about vegetable and fruit intake, physical activity and body weight, as those factors are linked to cancer prevention. The initial results of the survey were published in *Insight on Cancer*. *News and Information on Nutrition and Cancer Prevention*, which reviewed the scientific evidence that made explicit the link between vegetables and fruit, body weight and physical activity, and cancer. While estimates vary, these three factors may be causally related to approximately one-third of all fatal cancers.

This supplemental report provides an analysis of the responses to the questions about food insecurity and how these issues influence dietary consumption of vegetables and fruit. It is from this perspective that the current study seeks to understand the scope and to some degree, the nature of food insecurity and its influence on dietary consumption of vegetables and fruit, body weight and physical activity levels of Ontario adults and explore the potential role of food insecurity and cancer risk.

Key findings

The survey found that food insecurity is the result of a number of factors and can range from worrying about not having enough money to buy food, to compromising the quality and quantity of food in the diet. The following are the key findings:

- More than 1 in 10 Ontario adult respondents were food insufficient. This means that at some point during the year, more than 763,900 adults were living in households that were uncertain of having, or unable to acquire, enough food to meet the needs of all household members because of insufficient money or other resources.
- The survey confirmed that low socioeconomic status (measured as low education and low household income adequacy) has the strongest association with food insufficiency.
- The survey found similar levels of food insufficiency among adult respondents living in urban and rural areas.
- The composition of the household had a significant influence on food insufficiency. Respondents living in households with one adult and one or more children less than 18 years of age and households with one adult had an increased prevalence of food insufficiency.

Although this study did not measure childhood hunger, previous studies have shown that children in food insecure households are at significantly higher risk of hunger than other children.

 Adult respondents who immigrated to Canada in the last 20 years were almost twice as likely to live in a household that was food insufficient compared with Ontario adults born in Canada. The survey found

Canadian Cancer Society

almost 19% of immigrant adult respondents had experienced the uncertainty of having, or inability to acquire, enough food to meet their needs because of insufficient money or other resources.

- More respondents who were current smokers lived in households that experienced food insufficiency and hunger compared with non-smokers and former smokers. Once other important variables were accounted for, Ontario adult respondents who currently smoke have 1.8 times higher odds of being food insufficient compared with non-smokers.
- Of the adults who reported their health as fair to poor, 20% also reported that their household experienced food insufficiency. Only 10% of those who reported good to excellent health lived in a household that experienced food insufficiency.
- Respondents who lived in households experiencing food insufficiency were more likely to report that vegetables and fruit were too expensive and that good quality produce was not available. Compared with those who did not report a lack of availability of good quality produce, respondents who did agree were almost twice as likely to live in a household that was food insufficient.
- The survey did not find an association between food insufficiency and physical inactivity. Both food sufficient and insufficient respondent households are not meeting the minimum recommendation for physical activity.

Methodology

A total of 2,997 Ontario adults participated out of a possible 3,004 aged 18 to 64 years sampled for the ONCPS. Descriptive cross-tabulations were used to estimate the prevalence of food insufficiency in relation

to certain sociodemographic and health-related variables, as well as the prevalence of food insufficiency among various nutrition-related factors (i.e., vegetable and fruit intake, body weight, and physical activity). Multivariate analyses were conducted to examine the associations between food insufficiency and these variables while controlling for the effects of other factors.

Where do we go from here?

The analysis of the survey findings has led to an attempt to understand the scope and the nature of food insecurity and its influence on vegetable and fruit consumption, body weight and physical activity of Ontario adults, as these factors play a significant role in the development of cancer. Based on this analysis, the authors make the following recommendations:

- Based on the clear regional variations when it comes to availability of produce, it is important that subsequent research and policy development ensure a coherent policy framework that tries to make healthy food choices the easiest choices through easier access to better quality and more affordable food in all parts of Ontario.
- The survey found that more than 1 in 10 Ontario adult respondents were living in food insufficient households because they were uncertain of having or unable to acquire enough food to meet their households' needs. Initiatives—such as the Ontario government's recent announcement of an increase to basic allowance and shelter allowance and an increase to the minimum wage—are needed to assist vulnerable Ontario adults to meet basic food needs. In particular, interventions are needed to assist those who may be at much greater risk of developing cancer and other chronic diseases due to their inadequate vegetable and fruit intake.

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca

- n Ce
- The survey found that individual respondents with lower socioeconomic status had a higher prevalence of smoking, matching similar findings of other studies. As well, the survey found that respondent Ontario smokers with lower socioeconomic status also have inadequate vegetable and fruit intake. Additional services and improved access to cessation programs will help reduce the elevated cancer risk of this population.
- In addition to ongoing surveillance of food insecurity issues, monitoring of higher risk populations must be initiated. The results of this monitoring should be reported annually and used to inform strategy and set performance standards and accountability for social and health policy decisions and programs.

Conclusion

The benefits of a diet with an adequate number of vegetables and fruit have been borne out by scientific evidence. Barriers, such as food insecurity, that prevent availability, adequacy and access to foods that reduce our risk for cancer, as well as a number of other chronic diseases must be removed through provincial policies and programs. The authors hope that these findings of the ONCPS will encourage a dialogue among key stakeholders and produce action on this important issue.

Canadian Cancer Society

WHAT IS FOOD SECURITY?

Control of the security exists when all people, at all times, have physical and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food to meet their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life."^{3,4}

What are the key elements behind the concept of food security?

Food security is internationally recognized as a concept that includes both supply and demand elements, and can be applied at the individual and household level, as well as the broader community, regional, provincial/ territorial, national and international levels of the food system.^{5–7} This report focuses on individual and household food security.

A key factor that can affect the supply side for individuals or households is availability. Availability refers to being able to physically access a supply of sufficient, safe and nutritious foods. In Ontario, more remote communities may suffer from geographic isolation. In turn, this can affect availability and is dependent upon whether there is a sufficient market to organize an efficient and profitable food distribution network. In some of the most isolated communities, due to small populations and distance from major centres, federal government support is necessary to provide a reliable food supply throughout the year.⁸ Another provincial example is the recent short-term interruption of the available food supply that was experienced by a large portion of Ontario's population during the extended power blackout in August 2003.

Key factors that affect how people obtain food (the demand for food) include both adequacy and access:

 Adequacy refers to the quality of a person's and household's diet throughout the lifecourse to meet nutritional needs not only for growth and development and health maintenance, but also for preventing chronic diseases.⁴ Groups that may be more nutritionally vulnerable during certain stages of the lifecourse include: high-risk pregnant women, lowbirth-weight babies and children, individuals whose immune systems are compromised due to chronic illness, and older adults.⁹ Adulthood is the time during which the majority of chronic diseases (including cancer) are expressed, and also the critical time for preventive reduction of exposure to dietary and related risk factors known to increase risk of disease (obesity, physical inactivity), as well as for increase of those dietary factors known to be protective against disease (vegetable and fruit consumption).¹⁰

• Access refers to the individual's or household's ability to acquire sufficient and personally acceptable food in socially acceptable ways.¹¹ In Canada, this generally means equitable financial access to buy food, and is therefore related to adequate real income.¹² However, in some communities it can also mean the ability to grow as well as hunt, fish and gather food, depending on cultural traditions and social norms.³ Charitable food aid is another means to acquire food. On a global basis, it is used to alleviate famine during complex emergencies by providing short-term food relief, while working toward longer-term food security through a range of developmental policies and resources.^{5,13} Charitable food banks have become increasingly institutionalized over their 20-year history in Canada.^{14,15} Despite food banks being initiated as a response to local hunger brought on by broader social policy changes to income security programs, there is still a stigma attached to their use.¹⁴ This suggests that although charitable food banks may increasingly play a role in providing food access, they are seen as socially unacceptable, and should not be considered as a normal channel for food distribution in contemporary Canadian society.14

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca



If any of these elements—availability, adequacy or access—are diminished or absent, they can contribute to a person or household becoming food insecure. Therefore, food insecurity exists whenever the availability of nutritionally adequate and safe foods or the ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways is limited or uncertain.¹¹ In terms of the ability to acquire food, food insecurity tends to follow a sequence from worrying about not having enough money to buy food, to compromising the quality and then the quantity of the diet.¹¹ Therefore, from this standpoint, food insecurity is thought of as a continuum of risk, where the likelihood of harm can manifest as: people experiencing little or no risk (food secure); to those being at risk, where food availability and food insufficiency drive adaptive behaviours such as substitution and rationing (eating less costly or poorer quality food, or omitting entire food groups, as well as eating less often and in smaller amounts); to the most severe form, which manifests as absolute deprivation or hunger. Hunger has been described as the uneasy or painful sensation caused by lack of food.¹⁶ This is a potential, although not necessary, consequence of food insecurity. Furthermore, hunger described in this way is involuntary, and should not be confused with reducing intake due to conscious intent as a means of weight control, for example.

How is household food insecurity relevant to cancer prevention?

Cancer is not a single disease, but is in fact a large group of diseases, which is characterized by the uncontrolled growth of abnormal, malignant cells.^{17,18} Cancer can be studied at many levels, but is commonly researched at the genetic or cellular level.¹⁹ However, the occurrence of cancer can also be studied by understanding common contributing causes, known as risk factors, related to the disease. An earlier *Insight on Cancer* report reviewed the scientific evidence that made explicit the link between vegetables and fruit, body weight and physical activity, and cancer.^{20–22} While estimates vary, these three factors may be causally related to approximately one-third of all fatal cancers.^{20,21}

Dietary, body weight and physical activity risk factors, while operating at the individual level, can also be understood from a population perspective. In particular, "society is not merely a collection of individuals but is also a collectivity, and the behaviour and health of its individual members are profoundly influenced by its collective characteristics and social norms."²³ Therefore, the scale and pattern of cancer reflects the way that people live and their social, economic and environmental circumstances. Thus, while components of the diet—such as energy, phytochemicals, and macro and micronutrients—may ultimately have effects at the cellular level and influence the development of cancer as expressed in various organ systems within individuals, in fact, the variety of individual exposures from dietary risk factors have common social, economic and political causes at the population level.¹⁹ It is from this perspective that the current study seeks to understand the scope and to some degree, the nature, of food insecurity and its influence on dietary consumption of vegetables and fruit, body weight and physical activity levels of Ontario adults, and to explore the potential role of food insecurity and cancer risk. A complete list of study questions can be found in Appendix 1.

Canadian Cancer Society

WHAT IS THE ONCPS ABOUT?

o get a better understanding of health practices in Ontario in 2001–2002, Cancer Care Ontario conducted the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey (ONCPS), with several partners (see Acknowledgements). The focus of the survey was to solicit information about vegetable and fruit intake, physical activity and body weight, as these risk factors are linked to cancer prevention. Additional questions focused on behaviours, knowledge^{*}, attitudes^{*} and beliefs of the participants, as well as food security. Details of the questions can be found in Appendix 2.

A random sample of Ontarians aged 18–64 years was telephoned and invited to participate. The survey was completed between June 2001 and May 2002. The final sample of 3,183 men and women (63% of invited adults) was from 6 geographic areas of the province (see Appendix 3 for a description of the sample). These 6 areas, as outlined in the map below, corresponded with the 8 cancer planning regions vere combined, as well as the East and Southeast regions (Figure 1).



Source: Cancer Care Untario (Untario Cancer Registry, 2003) SAS, 1999-2001

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

Cancer Care Ontario

Canadian Cancer Society

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



The ONCPS sample was stratified to ensure that there were at least 375 participants in each of the 6 regions. Toronto Public Health, which provided financial support for an enlarged Toronto sample within the Central East Region, reported on their results separately.²⁴ Participants were interviewed by telephone for 20–25 minutes by surveyors from York University's Institute for Social Research. Approximately 265 interviews were completed monthly between June 2001 and May 2002. The data presented in this report are self-reported and cross-sectional in nature.

For the purposes of this analysis, **adequacy** of diet was measured by assessing responses to a 14-item Food Frequency Questionnaire to determine whether Ontario adult respondents met daily minimum recommendations for vegetable and fruit intake according to current Health Canada recommendations, and cut-points consistent with the scientific literature for cancer prevention (at least 5 servings per day).^{20,21,25}

Availability of good quality produce was assessed by asking respondents where they shop or get food. These results were triangulated with other findings from Ontario studies that used qualitative analyses.

Food **access** was measured two different ways. First, building on the food adequacy and availability items, respondents were asked their perception of produce prices in their locale. These results were then compared with ongoing market basket monitoring results from key communities across the province. Second, access was examined using a more in-depth approach to ranking household food insufficiency and hunger, and was measured using the validated abbreviated 6-item subset of the 18-item United States Food Security Survey Module.²⁶, [•] The 6-item questionnaire has been demonstrated to be a reliable substitute to the 18-item version, showing reasonably high sensitivity and specificity and minimal bias.²⁷ A respondent's level of food insufficiency and hunger was captured using responses to a series of 6 questions on specific conditions, experiences and behaviours known as indicators that represent the varying degrees of severity.

The primary focus of the questions on the food security survey module is characterization of whether a respondent had *enough* food or money to meet basic needs over the previous 12 months. Other elements of food security apart from financial constraint, such as food safety, nutritional quality of diets, and reduced mobility or function for isolated or ill persons, are not described by this particular measure.

The food security survey module is based on Item Response Theory. A respondent's scale value depends on his/her overall pattern of response to all items (i.e., the number of affirmative responses to increasingly severe questions). Severity of food insufficiency on the 6-item food security survey module is expressed by numerical values ranging from 0–6. A respondent who did not affirm any of the conditions of food insufficiency was assigned a raw score of 0, while a respondent who had experienced all of them was given a raw score of 6. A respondent's food sufficiency status was classified into one of 3 categories: food sufficient (0 or 1 affirmatives), food insufficient without hunger (2–4 affirmatives), or food insufficient with hunger (5 or 6 affirmatives). Of interest to note, the 6-item module identifies respondents reporting adult hunger but lacks the further detail that identifies the most severe scale range required to identify children's hunger.

Because the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey measured other aspects of food insecurity, such as adequacy and availability, the United States terminology of labelling respondents food secure, and food insecure with and without hunger, was changed to food sufficient, and food insufficient with and without hunger, in order to distinguish these concepts.

Canadian Cancer Society

This food security survey module provides much greater specificity and sensitivity than 3-item instruments used, for example, on the Canadian Community Health Survey and National Population Health Survey (NPHS) 1998/99.²⁸ The 3-item instruments used on those surveys are too severe to be sensitive to low levels of food insufficiency and included too few questions to cover both low levels of insufficiency as well as the more severe level of hunger; additionally, they are too few to produce a meaningful and reliable scaled measure, so are thought to be best used individually.

Overview of the Data Analysis

A detailed description of the statistical analysis for this report can be found in Appendix 5. Briefly, 2,997 subjects were eligible for the food sufficiency analysis out of a possible 3,004 Ontario adults aged 18-64 years sampled for the survey. Descriptive cross-tabulations were used to estimate the prevalence of food insufficiency in relation to the sample's sociodemographic characteristics and the prevalence of 6 health outcomes or behaviours (knowledge, attitudes, self-efficacy, behaviour related to vegetable and fruit intake, physical inactivity and overweight or obesity) among people who were or were not food insufficient. The sociodemographic characteristics included sex, age group, geography, education level, household income, [•] immigrant status, [•] smoking status, self-reported health, number of chronic conditions, and perception of cost and availability of produce. The chi-square test was used to identify

statistically significant differences in the prevalences within these characteristics. Multiple logistic regression was used to describe the associations between food insufficiency and the sample's characteristics. Stepwise elimination of variables, based on the likelihood ratio method, was used to determine the final multivariate model. This approach allowed us to identify the most important characteristics and their associations with food insufficiency.

Likewise, multiple logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between food insufficiency and the 6 health outcomes or behaviours listed above. All models were stratified by sex (except for self-efficacy about vegetable and fruit intake because of small sample size for that item), and other sociodemographic, behaviour, and psychosocial variables were included in the models to control for the potentially confounding effects of these variables on the observed associations.

All analyses were conducted on weighted data and standard error calculations were done using the *svy* commands in the statistical software Stata (version 7) to account for the complex nature of the survey design.

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

FINDINGS FROM THE ONCPS

Food Adequacy and Availability

he minimum amount of vegetables and fruit that adults need to consume to reduce their risk of developing cancer is 5 or more servings per day.^{20,21} Furthermore, more than 250 population-based studies, including case-control and cohort studies, indicate that people who eat about 5 or more servings per day have approximately half the risk of developing digestive and respiratory tract cancers of those who eat fewer than 2 servings per day.^{29,30} Our survey indicates that approximately 40% of adults in the province do not meet this guideline. In addition, 10% of men and 5% of women are at twice the risk of developing cancer due to consuming 2 or fewer servings per day (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Prevalence of vegetable and fruit consumption

Significant differences between men and women (p<.001) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Adults who agreed good quality vegetables and fruit are not available in their area ate less vegetables and fruit (47% ate fewer than 5 servings per day) than those who were neutral (42%) or disagreed (39%). Although these findings were not statistically significant (at the 5% level), differences were observed across the regions, especially between Northern regions and the rest of the province (Figure 3). A greater proportion of people living in Northern Ontario cited limited availability of vegetables and fruit as an issue, compared with their southern counterparts. Between 23% and 25% in the northern regions of the province versus 11%–12% in southern, central and eastern Ontario agreed that good guality vegetables and fruit are not available. The Northeast and Northwest regions, as defined in this study, contain less than 8% of Ontario's population, and due to their large area, they contain the lowest population density within the province.³¹ Sheer distance from major centres and the nature of perishability of produce make availability issues more predominant in the North. It also confirms similar findings from other Ontario ethnographic studies, where participants described a qualitatively different diet due to geography. 32,33

Figure 3. The proportion of respondents who agree that good quality vegetables and fruit are not available, by region



Significant differences between regions (p<.05) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Canadian Cancer Society

A similar finding was observed for the perception of cost. In the northern regions of the province, more adults (46%–49%) perceived the costs of vegetables and fruit as being too high, compared with adults living in the south (38%–42%), however these differences were not statistically significant. This difference in perception between northern and southern Ontarians agrees with results of tracking a market basket of groceries known as the Nutritious Food Basket. The weekly cost of a nutritious food basket in select regions of Ontario for a family of four in 2002 (the time period of the survey) varied across the province. The weekly costs ranged from \$131.42 in Thunder Bay,³⁴ to \$121.06 in York Region, ³⁵ \$121 in Toronto, ³⁶ \$114.98 for the City of Greater Sudbury,³⁷ and \$103.01 in Halton Region.³⁸ The average provincial weekly cost was \$123.58.39

Economic Access

As Figure 4 illustrates, 11% of Ontario adults were food insufficient. This means that at some point during the year, more than 763,900 adults were living in households that were uncertain of having, or unable to acquire, enough food to meet the needs of all their members because they had insufficient money or other resources. This estimate is comparable to the U.S. national prevalence for adults of almost 11% during 2002,⁴⁰ the same year for which the ONCPS was completed.

Figure 4. Prevalence of food insufficiency, with and without hunger, among Ontario adults



Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Three percent or 200,000 Ontario adults were food insufficient with hunger. This means that about 22% of food insufficient adults were hungry at times during the year. The U.S. national prevalence for adults was also 3% in 2002.⁴⁰

Food Insufficiency and Geographic Variation

As Figure 5 outlines, the prevalence of household food insufficiency varied somewhat across the province. Four out of 6 regions (Northwest, South/Southwest, Central West and Central East) had food insufficiency levels higher than the provincial prevalence estimates (ranging from 12%–14% food insufficient with or without hunger, and 2%–4% food insufficient with hunger), while Northeast and East/Southeast fell below the provincial levels. However, only East/Southeast had a prevalence of food insufficiency that was significantly different from the overall provincial value. No significant departures from the provincial prevalence of hunger were observed for any of the regions.

Figure 5. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by region



Significant differences between regions (p<.05)

* Significantly lower than the Ontario prevalence (p<.05)

Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Cancer Care Ontario

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



When regional variation, selected sociodemographic and other factors were analyzed using multiple logistic regression, the region of residence was not associated with food insufficiency and hunger.

Food Insufficiency and Urban and Rural Households

Adults living in urban areas had a non-significantly higher prevalence of household food insufficiency (both with and without hunger) compared with rural ones (12% versus 8% respectively). However, when this dichotomy was examined along with other variables using multivariate logistic regression, the urban/rural classification was no longer associated with household food insufficiency.

The findings regarding the analysis of geographic variables across Ontario's regions and types of communities may be counterintuitive for some readers, as hunger, and the risk of being hungry (household food insufficiency), is often thought of as only an inner city phenomenon and not one of the social issues facing small towns or villages in Ontario. This study indicates that, while there may very well be differences in prevalence across the province both regionally and in different sized communities, these differences were not statistically significant once other variables were accounted for. Ontario adults are as likely to be hungry in isolated, rural, small town or metropolitan communities.

Food Insufficiency and Level of Education and Household Income Adequacy

Figure 6 indicates that as education and income rise, the prevalence of food insufficiency and hunger falls. Ontario adults with the least amount of education had the highest proportion of household food insufficiency both with and without hunger and the highest levels of

hunger. Twenty-three percent of Ontario adults with less than high school education experienced uncertainty and the inability to acquire enough food for their household sometime within the past year, and this same group experienced hunger at more than 3 times (8% versus 3%) the provincial value. In the multivariate analysis, lower education levels were strongly associated with food insufficiency independent of income and other sociodemographic factors. Those with less than high school education had a 2.4-fold likelihood (Cl 95% 1.4-4.2) of being in food insufficient households than those with university degrees, while those with only a high school diploma had 1.6 higher odds of living in a food insufficient household compared with university educated Ontarians (Table 1).



Figure 6. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by education level and household income adequacy

* Significant differences between categories (p<.001) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005 Canadian Cancer Society

Variables	Unweighted na	% ^b Food	% ^b Food	Adjusted OR (95% CI) ^c
		sufficient	insufficient	· · ·
	(n=2,644)	(n=353)		
Sex				
Men	1323	89.9	10.1	0.8 (0.6–1.0)
Women	1674	87.4	12.6	1.0 (Reference)
Age group				
18–34	1007	85.4	14.6	1.0 (Reference)
35–49	1191	88.5	11.5	0.6 (0.5–0.9)
50–64	738	93.4	6.6	0.3 (0.2–0.4)
Household type				, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
1 Adult	604	84.7	15.3	1.7 (1.1-2.6)
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	157	76.0	24.0	2.1 (1.2–3.7)
2 Adults	771	90.9	9.1	1.4(0.9-2.1)
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	858	98.1	19	1 0 (Reference)
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	601	88.0	12.0	1.2 (0.8–1.9)
Immigrant status	001	00.0	12.0	1.2 (0.0 1.0)
Canadian-born	2240	80.8	10.2	1 (Reference)
Immigrated <20 years	2243	09.0 81.0	10.2	
Initiality aleu <20 years	307 34E	01.Z	10.0	1.0(1.2-2.7)
IIIIIIIyialeu 20+ years	545	09.0	10.5	1.7 (1.0-2.0)
Housenola Income	000	70 5	07 5	
LOW	292	72.5	27.5	4.3 (2.8–6.8)
Middle	4/1	79.7	20.3	2.9 (1.9–4.4)
Upper-middle	892	89.2	10.8	1.7 (1.1–2.4)
High	1293	93.6	6.4	1.0 (Reference)
Education level				
< High school	311	77.3	22.7	2.4 (1.4–4.2)
High school	709	86.1	13.9	1.6 (1.0–2.5)
Some post-secondary	1051	89.0	11.0	1.3 (0.9–1.9)
University	907	93.3	6.7	1.0 (Reference)
Self-reported health status				
Excellent/very good/good	2668	89.7	10.3	1.0 (Reference)
Fair/poor	320	79.9	20.1	1.6 (1.0-2.4)
Smoking status				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Non-smoker	1405	90.4	9.6	1.0 (Reference)
Former smoker	809	90.3	9.7	1.1 (0.8–1.7)
Current smoker	771	83.2	16.8	1.8 (1.3–2.5)
V/E too expensive		00.2	10.0	1.0 (1.0 2.0)
Agree	1216	80.5	10.5	3 1 (2 2-4 2)
Neither aaree/disaaree	212	00.0 00.0	7 9	1 4 (0.8-9.3)
Diegaroo	1/62	92.2	7.0	1.4 (0.0-2.3)
V/E pot available	1403	54.0	0.7	
	444	77 4	00.0	17(1004)
Agree	444	//.4	22.6	1.7 (1.2-2.4)
Neither agree/disagree	1//	83.1	16.9	1.6 (U.9–2.7)
Disagree	2376	90.8	9.2	1.0 (Reference)

Table 1. Adjusted odds ratio[•] estimates for food insufficiency in relation to selected sociodemographic variables, health status, smoking status, and cost and availability of vegetables and fruit

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; V/F, vegetables and fruit

a Sample sizes vary due to missing data

b All proportions were calculated using weighted data (see Appendix 5)

c Adjusted for other variables listed in table

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



Respondents were asked about their household income, which was reclassified as a 4-level categorical variable representing income adequacy. This variable was based on gross total household income and household composition (size). The category definitions can be found in Appendix 5. This method of income categorization was developed by Statistics Canada and is commonly used to define household income adequacy.⁴¹

Another commonly used measure is Statistics Canada's Low Income Cut-offs (LICOs).⁴² This measure of poverty was not used in this analysis because it requires more specific information regarding household income than was available with the data presented here; only broad categories in \$10,000 increments were collected for this analysis. However, it is most likely that the low-income group and at least some of the middle-income group fall below the LICO.

In addition, the survey did not include a question regarding source(s) of income. Therefore, aspects such as social assistance use are not part of this analysis.

Households with low-, middle- and upper-middle incomes were more food insufficient than those in high-income households. As Figure 6 illustrates, 28% of Ontario adults living in households that reported the lowest household incomes experienced food insufficiency including hunger, more than double the provincial value. The lowest income group also experienced the highest intensity of food insufficiency with hunger, at more than threefold (9%) the provincial prevalence. However, middle-income households also had higher than provincial prevalence estimates for food insufficiency and hunger (at 20% and 6% correspondingly). An income gradient was confirmed in the multivariate analysis, where those in low-income households had the highest odds ratio (AOR 4.3) for food insufficiency with and without hunger (Table 1).

Compared with those earning the highest incomes in Ontario, the likelihood of being food insufficient including being hungry is over 4 times greater in lowincome households (AOR 4.3; 95% CI 2.8–6.8), but almost triple in middle-income households (AOR 2.9; 95% CI 1.9–4.4). The prevalence of food insufficiency is lower than the provincial estimate among uppermiddle-income households at a prevalence of 11% and hunger of 0.9%. However, compared with those earning the highest incomes in Ontario, the odds of being in a food insufficient household are 1.7-fold higher (95% CI 1.1–2.4) in upper-middle-incomes. This income gradient is found in other Canadian studies.^{43,44}

Consistent with findings from the United States,⁴⁰ food insufficiency was not limited to low-income to middleincome households. This may be surprising for some readers. However, annual household income is a fixed measure and may not be sensitive to abrupt changes that can contribute to economic downturn and household food insufficiency, such as the loss of a job, or the separation, divorce or death of a household's sole breadwinner.⁴⁵ Nevertheless, the ability to adapt is much lower in low-income households. As Figure 6 illustrates, estimates of food insufficiency in low-income households are 4 times that of high-income households (28% versus 7%), and of hunger are 9 times that of high-income households (9% versus 1%).

Food Insufficiency and Household Composition

Sex

As Figure 7 depicts, slightly more Ontario women than men lived in households that experienced severe deprivation of food, in the form of hunger. More women (13%) than men (10%) also reported their household experienced uncertainty of, or inability to acquire, enough food to meet their needs sometime during the year, however these differences were not statistically

Canadian Cancer Society

significant. When sex was analyzed along with other factors, men were less likely to live in a household that was food insufficient, but this finding was only marginally significant (AOR 0.8; 95% CI 0.6–1.0). In another Canadian study, more men (9%) than women (8%) had a compromised diet, but differences in sex on their own as well as when adjusted for other variables in regression analysis, were determined not to be significant.⁴³ The differences in levels of analysis (national versus provincial), as well as the shortcomings in the instrument used in the NPHS, as discussed previously, can explain these results. Therefore, those results may not be comparable to the more specific and sensitive 6-item module used within the current study.²⁸

Figure 7. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by sex and age group



Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Age

The study population for this survey was adults aged 18–64. Adults under the age of 35 lived in households with the highest prevalence of food insufficiency both with and without hunger at 15% and hunger at 3%, compared with those adults aged 50–64 who had the lowest food insufficiency prevalence of 7% with 1% hunger (Figure 7). The odds of being in a food insufficient household within this oldest age group were one-third that of younger adults (see Table 1: AOR 0.3; 95% Cl 0.2–0.4). This finding is consistent with trends found in other Canadian surveys.^{43,44}

Household Composition

Not all households share the same likelihood of being food insufficient and hungry in Ontario. As shown in Figure 8, 24% of respondents living in single-headed households with one or more children less than 18 years of age experienced food insufficiency and experienced the severest form of deprivation, hunger, at 7%, double the provincial estimate of 3%. Respondents living in households with only one adult also had increased prevalence estimates of food insufficiency, at 15%, including a hunger prevalence of 5%. Table 1 shows that, independent of sociodemographic and other variables, respondents living in lone parent households with one or more children under 18 have twice the odds (AOR 2.1; 95% CI 1.2-3.7) of being in a food insufficient household, including being hungry, compared with a two adult household with one or more children under the same age. These results are comparable to U.S. and other Canadian studies.^{40,43} Although this study did not measure childhood hunger directly, it is known from studies that use a more indepth version of the instrument (18 questions versus 6item guestions used here), that children in food insecure households are at significantly higher risk of hunger than other children, and that this risk rises sharply as the severity level of the food insecurity experienced in the household rises.46

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca





Figure 8. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by household type

Respondents living in lone adult households are more likely (AOR 1.7; 95% CI 1.1–2.6) to be food insufficient with and without hunger than those living in two adult households with one or more children under age 18, a finding also mirrored in the U.S.⁴⁰

Furthermore, a breakdown by sex shows that men who live alone are more likely to experience food insufficiency: 17% of lone male households were food insufficient compared with 13% of men in lone adult households with children under 18 years, and 8% of two adult households with or without children. Conversely, 26% of women in lone adult households with children under 18 years were food insufficient, compared with 14% living alone, 10% living with another adult and 13% who lived in a two adult household with children. This is similar to results in another study.⁴⁷

Immigrant Status

As shown in Figure 9, almost 19% of adults who immigrated to Ontario in the last 20 years experienced uncertainty of having, or inability to acquire, enough food to meet their needs because they had insufficient money or other resources in the past year. Furthermore, this group experienced levels of hunger at 4%. Relative to Ontario adults born in Canada, this group has almost twice the odds of being food insufficient (AOR 1.8; 95% CI 1.2–2.7). As would be expected, the likelihood of experiencing household food insufficiency declines with the amount of time since immigration, and after 20 years, the prevalence is comparable to that of Canadian-born adults at 11% and 10% respectively. When other factors were taken into account, the odds of being food insufficient and hungry after living in Ontario for 20 years or longer was only marginally significant (AOR 1.7; 95% CI 1.0-2.8).

Figure 9. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by number of years since immigrating to Canada



Significant differences between categories (p<.01) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Canadian Cancer Society

This result is different from other Canadian findings, which found that recent immigrants had lower odds of living in food insufficient households than did Canadian-born individuals.43 This may be due in part to the differences in the length of time used as categories for the analysis. As well, there are differences in the level of analysis (national versus provincial). Ontario is unique compared with the rest of Canada, as over 56% of Canada's immigrant population live in this province, with the rest of the immigrant population shared among all other Canadian provinces and territories.48

Food Insufficiency and Other Health Risk Factors

Smoking Status

As Figure 10 illustrates, for the same time period as the survey, the prevalence estimates for smoking status in the ONCPS closely parallel that of the province.⁴⁹ In the ONCPS, 26% of respondents were classified as current smokers, 27% as former smokers and 47% as nonsmokers. As shown in Figure 11, there is a significant difference in the prevalence of food insufficiency, both with and without hunger, among current smokers (17%; hunger 5%), in contrast to former and non-smokers, whose household food insufficiency (with hunger) were similar at 10% respectively, and who had similar hunger estimates of 2%, respectively. Once other important variables have been accounted for in a multivariate analysis (Table 1), Ontario adults who currently smoke have 1.8 times higher odds of living in a food insufficient household compared with non-smokers (AOR 1.8; 95% CI 1.3-2.5).

CAMH ONCPS 100% 80% 60% 50 47 40% 27 27 26 23 20% 0% Non-smokers Current smokers

Figure 10. Smoking status of Ontarians as measured by the ONCPS and CAMH Monitor

Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003 OTRU Special Report, 200449

Former smokers

Figure 11. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by smoking status



Significant differences between categories (p<.01)

Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca **Canadian Cancer Society** www.cancer.ca

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



Given the convincing body of epidemiological evidence indicating a diet rich in vegetables and fruit reduces the risk of developing lung cancer^{20,21} (which is caused more than 8 times out of 10 by smoking),^{21,50} research to explore the relationship between current smoking and food insufficiency is merited. However, the effects of smoking on curbing appetite are well documented,⁵¹ and this finding may indicate the use of tobacco as a coping mechanism to combat hunger. A corollary explanation may be that as the discretionary portion of a household budget becomes smaller and people become at greater risk for food insufficiency and going hungry due to the addictive nature of tobacco, smokers who are food insufficient cannot forego their habit and will spend what limited amounts of money are available to support their addiction. Regardless of the cause of the association, the policy implications to support smoking cessation are discussed at the end of this report.

Self-Reported Health

Self-perceived health is a reliable, valid assessment that has been found to be as good as or better than measures such as functional ability, psychological wellbeing and chronic conditions, and is more stable and highly correlated to physicians' ratings of client health.⁵² Overall, 11% of ONCPS respondents reported fair or poor health. This is similar to the results of another Ontario survey completed in 1996, which reported 10% of adults with health rated as fair or poor.³¹

A greater proportion of individuals who reported having fair or poor health, also reported being food insufficient. Twenty percent of adults who reported their health as fair or poor experienced food insufficiency (Figure 12), compared with those reporting good to excellent health, of whom only 10% were food insufficient. After adjusting for the effects of other variables, the odds of food insufficiency are 1.6 (95% CI 1.0–2.4) times greater in households where respondents report fair to poor health relative to those reporting good to excellent health (see Table 1). This finding is comparable to a small Canadian study using the same U.S. Food Security Scale.⁵³

Figure 12. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by self-reported health status and number of chronic conditions



Chronic conditions refers to diabetes, heart disease, high cholestoral, hypertension, diverticulitis/bowel disease, kidney disease * Significant differences between categories (p<.001) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Number of Chronic Conditions

Respondents were asked about certain chronic conditions that may require dietary modification to manage outcomes. The most frequently cited conditions were hypertension and hyperlipidemia (see Table 2). Dietary management of hypertension includes consuming a diet rich in vegetables and fruit.^{54,55} Hyperlipidemia management requires not only reducing total, trans and saturated fat intake, and

Canadian Cancer Society

changing the ratio of fats consumed in order to increase poly and mono-unsaturated fat intake, but LDL cholesterol levels are also lowered by increasing plant foods including vegetable, fruit, and whole grain consumption.⁵⁵ As Figure 12 outlines, 12% of adults with one or more chronic conditions requiring some form of dietary modification lived in households that were food insufficient, while 11% who had no chronic conditions lived in household that experienced food insufficiency. Taking into consideration other variables, no association was found between the number of chronic conditions and being food insufficient. Thus the data indicate that having one or more of these particular conditions is not associated with being food insufficient. This result is different from other Canadian findings and is likely due to the scope of the chronic conditions measured and differences in the study populations.43,44,53

Table 2. Prevalence of chronic conditions that may affect dietary behaviour

Chronic condition	%	
Diabetes	3.3	Noit
Heart disease	2.9	Neit
High cholesterol	11.4	
Hypertension	11.9	
Diverticulitis/bowel disease	3.5	
Kidney disease	0.9	

adjusting for other variables, adults who agree that good quality vegetables and fruit are not available where they live are almost twice (AOR 1.7; 95% CI 1.2–2.4) as likely to be food insufficient as those who disagree that good quality produce is not available. A more in-depth analysis in terms of regional variation is not possible due to the sample size needed for stratification.

Figure 13. Proportion of respondents who were food insufficient, with or without hunger, by perception of cost and availability of vegetables and fruit



Perception of Cost and Availability

Respondents' perception of the cost and availability associated with vegetables and fruit were significantly related to food insufficiency. Among adults who agreed that vegetables and fruit are too expensive, 20% were food insufficient (Figure 13). These individuals were more likely (AOR 3.1; 95% CI 2.2–4.2) to suffer from food insufficiency than those who did not agree that vegetables and fruit are too expensive. Similarly, 23% of respondents who agree that good quality vegetables and fruit are not available are food insufficient. After * Significant differences between categories (p<.001) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Food Adequacy, Availability and Insufficiency Related to Vegetable and Fruit Consumption

This study examined the relationship between food insufficient adults and their likelihood to consume less than the recommended levels of vegetables and fruit. Nineteen percent of male adults in food insufficient households ate between 0–2 servings of vegetables and fruit (Figure 14) daily. In contrast, only 9% of men

Cancer Care Ontario

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca



living in food sufficient households ate this amount. Among women living in food insufficient households, 13% consumed 0-2 servings of vegetables and fruit daily, while only 4% of their food sufficient counterparts consumed this level. As epidemiological studies indicate, consumption at this minimal level doubles the risk for certain cancers.³⁰ Little difference was observed between men in food insufficient households compared with food sufficient households consuming more than 2 but fewer than 5 servings per day. At this consumption range (which is still less than optimal for cancer prevention), 37% of food insufficient men ate at these levels, compared with 35% of men in food sufficient households. Conversely, 39% of women in food insufficient households ate more than 2 but fewer than 5 servings per day while 30% of women in food sufficient households ate within this range. As Table 3 indicates, when further analysis adjusted for other variables, food insufficiency was not significantly associated with consumption of fewer than 5 servings per day for men (AOR 1.3; 95% CI 0.8-2.1). Conversely, consumption of fewer than 5 servings per day is significantly associated in food insufficient women (AOR 1.7; 95% CI 1.2-2.6). This finding is important as it reinforces the differences between sexes. Overall, adult women in this province are significantly more likely to consume vegetables and fruit compared with men; their median number of daily servings was 6.3 compared with men's 5.4 servings per day. However, women in food insufficient households had significantly greater odds for less than optimal intake, which also predisposes this group to increased risk of developing cancer because of lower vegetable and fruit consumption.

100% 80% 60% 56 52* 44 40% 34 20% 0% Food Food Food Food sufficient insufficient sufficient insufficient Men Women

Figure 14. Proportion of respondents who ate <5 servings of vegetables and fruit per day, by food sufficiency status

* Significant higher than food sufficient (p<.001) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005 Canadian Cancer Society

	IV	len	Women		
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Ate <5 servings/day of vegetables and fruit					
Food sufficient	1.0	Reference	1.0	Reference	
Food insufficient ^b	1.3	0.8–2.1	1.7	1.2-2.6	
Agree/Neither agree nor disagree that					
vegetables and fruit are expensive	1.0	0.8-1.3	1.7	1.3-2.1	
Disagree that vegetables and fruit are expensive	1.0	Reference	1.0	Reference	
Agree/Neither agree nor disagree that good quality vegetables					
and fruit are availabled	1.1	0.8-1.5	1.5	1.1-2.0	
Disagree that good quality vegetables and fruit are available	1.0	Reference	1.0	Reference	

Table 3. Sex-specific adjusted^a odds ratio estimates for vegetable and fruit consumption, by food insufficiency status

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

a Stepwise elimination of variables, based on the likelihood ratio method, was used to determine the final multivariate model⁵⁶

b Adjusted for age group, education level, concern about pesticides on vegetables and fruit, cancer risk perception, and attitude toward eating vegetables and fruit

c Adjusted for age group, and concern about pesticides on vegetables and fruit

d Adjusted for age group, perception that vegetables and fruit take too much preparation, and concern about pesticides on vegetables and fruit

The relationship between barriers to vegetable and fruit intake, such as perceived cost and availability, and food insufficiency was also examined. As shown in Table 3, women who were either neutral or agreed that vegetables and fruit were too expensive (AOR 1.7; 95% Cl 1.3–2.1) or were not available in their area (AOR 1.5; 95% Cl 1.1–2.0) were more likely to eat fewer than 5 servings per day than those who disagreed with these statements. No association between either perceived cost or availability and consumption was observed among men.

Thus, for the general adult population in Ontario, household food insufficiency, and perceptions of availability of produce and cost of produce do not significantly influence less than optimal consumption levels in men; but in women, those who are household food insufficient, or who had the perception that vegetables and fruit are expensive and not available, were more likely to have less than optimal consumption. This finding may reflect the sex-specific differences in food acquisition and preparation. For example, 85% of Canadian women report being the primary grocery shoppers for their households versus 15% of Canadian men.⁵⁷ Similarly, Canadian men aged 20–64 spend between 0.4–0.5 hours per day cooking and washing up; compared with women of the same age who spend 1.0–1.3 hours per day doing meal preparation and clean-up.⁵⁸ Therefore, men's perception of cost or availability may not be relevant as predicting consumption due to their lack of involvement in household meal planning and preparation, except if they live on their own.

BMI[▼] and Physical Inactivity

The ONCPS asked each participant their height and weight from which body mass index (BMI) was calculated. Significantly more food insufficient women than their food sufficient counterparts were overweight or obese (BMI 25+): 43% of food insufficient women, compared with 33% of women who were able to pay

See Glossary of Terms, Appendix 5

Cancer Care Ontario



for food, were overweight or obese (Figure 15). Table 4 shows that food insufficient men, compared with their food sufficient counterparts, have significantly decreased odds of being overweight or obese (AOR 0.6; 95% CI 0.4–0.9). Conversely, food insufficient women, have significantly increased odds of being overweight or obese (AOR 1.8; 95% CI 1.2–2.6) compared with their food sufficient counterparts. One of the limitations of the current study is that the sample size of underweight adults (BMI <18.5) was too small for reliable regression analysis.

Figure 15. Proportion of respondents who were overweight or obese (BMI 25+ kg/m²), by food sufficiency status



* Significantly higher than food sufficient (p<.05) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Table 4. Sex-specific adjusted odds ratio estimates^a for overweight and obesity, and physical activity, by food insufficiency status

		Men	V	Vomen
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Overweight or obese (BMI 25+)				
Food sufficient	1.0	Reference	1.0	Reference
Food insufficient ^b	0.6	0.4–0.9	1.8	1.2-2.6
Physically active <3 hours/week				
Food sufficient	1.0	Reference	1.0	Reference
Food insufficient ^c	1.0	0.6–1.6	0.9	0.6–1.1

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

 Stepwise elimination of variables, based on the likelihood ratio method was used, to determine the final multivariate model⁵⁶

b Adjusted for age group, education level, and level of physical activity

c Adjusted for age group, education level, and immigrant status

There have been conflicting Canadian results on the association of body weight with food insufficiency and hunger. One Canadian study found a significant negative association between food insufficiency and overweight for men, but a non-significant increased odds of being overweight among women.⁴⁴ The same study reported a non-significant increased odds of obesity among men and no association with obesity among food insufficient women. The only other Canadian study completed in this area found a significant association between obesity (BMI 30+) and household food insufficiency.⁴³

This current study's results are similar to those in a recent American study, which found that food insufficiency is positively related to overweight in women, but not for men.⁴⁷ Townsend and colleagues propose that in general, women's experiences of food insufficiency are different from men's.⁴⁷ Food insufficient women are often heads of households with children, whereas men reporting food insufficiency are often alone, therefore making sex comparisons

Canadian Cancer Society

inappropriate.⁴⁷ This finding remains consistent in the ONCPS, as indicated previously under household characteristics.

American researchers also posit that women in particular report disordered eating patterns due to foregoing food so that their children can eat. This cycle is characterized by overeating when food is plentiful (i.e. when money is available) followed by a short period of involuntary food restriction (i.e. when limited food is given to children or not available for any family members), and this feast/famine pattern becomes cyclical. It is proposed that if this pattern becomes chronic, it can lead to changes in metabolism, which can result in gradual weight gain over time.^{47,59,60}

Ontario's obesity prevalence (12%) is generally close to the national estimate of 15%.⁶¹ Notwithstanding the differences in instruments used to measure household food insufficiency, this present study's finding may very well be due to the level of analysis. In particular, there is an important effect of immigration on the distribution of body weight across the Ontario population. Immigrants born in Asia have a much greater tendency to have lower BMI's than Canadian-born adults.⁶² Because Ontario has over half of all Canadian immigrants,⁴⁸ this immigrant effect may modulate not only the distribution of body weight but, due to the relationship found in this current study of food insufficiency among immigrants living here less than 20 years, may in part explain the differences in relationship between overweight and obesity, and food insufficiency that has been found among these different studies. This relationship will be further explored in another Insight on Cancer supplement on body weight and physical activity, as well as more indepth regression analysis for peer review literature.

For the purposes of this study, physical inactivity was defined as less than 3 hours per week of moderate to

vigorous activity. This cut-point is based on the recommendation to have at least 30-45 minutes of moderate to vigorous activity on most days of the week.^{63,64} There was very little difference in the prevalence of physical inactivity for both sexes in food sufficient and insufficient households. Forty-four percent of men in food insufficient households were physically inactive compared with 43% of men in food sufficient households. Fifty-three percent of women in food insufficient and food sufficient households were physically inactive. Table 4 shows that, when controlling for other factors, there is no difference between food insufficient men and food sufficient men in terms of the effect on physical inactivity (AOR 1.0; 95% CI 0.6-1.6). Women in food insufficient households were less likely to be physically inactive than women in food sufficient households, but this finding was not statistically significant (AOR 0.9; 95% CI 0.6-1.2). Therefore the effect of household food insufficiency on predicting physical inactivity is negligible, and factors other than household food insufficiency are contributing to Ontario adults' physical inactivity, for which current overall provincial prevalence is 43% of men and 53% of women aged 18-64 not meeting the minimum recommendation.²²

Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs, and Self-Efficacy

For the purposes of this survey, knowledge was assessed by the response to the question asking the number of vegetable and fruit servings that are recommended for daily consumption by government and health agencies. Whereas, the respondents' attitudes were measured by asking how many servings they personally needed to eat each day in order to maintain good health. Factors that were identified as barriers (having a negative influence) to adequate vegetable and fruit intake, such as cost, spoilage, availability, preparation, lack of information on

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca



preparation and storage, and concern about pesticides* or genetically modified foods were included. This analysis focused on perceptions of cost and availability. Finally, self-efficacy was assessed by a Likert scale asking the respondents' confidence in their ability to increase their servings of vegetables and fruit within the next month.

The provincial prevalence of men and women who do not know the recommendations of 5 to 10 vegetable and fruit servings per day is 40% and 22%, respectively. Sixty-two percent of men in food insufficient households did not know the daily number of vegetable and fruit servings recommended to eat, compared with 52% of food sufficient men. Likewise, 34% of food insufficient women did not know the recommendation, while about 26% of women who had the ability to pay for food did not know 5 or more servings are recommended. Yet, neither of these differences were statistically significant.

Taking into consideration other variables, when examining lack of knowledge in food insufficient households relative to food sufficient households, there was no difference among men (AOR 1.0; 95% CI 0.6-1.8); however, women in food insufficient households were more likely to not know the recommended levels, although this finding is not statistically significant (AOR 1.2; 95% CI 0.8–1.9) (Table 5). This is an important finding as, irrespective of being in a food sufficient or insufficient household, there is a high lack of awareness among Ontario adults, particularly among men. This indicates that it is not simply a matter of knowledge to make the necessary dietary changes needed to reduce risk for cancer. However, it also points out the fact that there is a strong need for population-wide educational

campaigns and programs to increase awareness of the recommended levels of vegetable and fruit consumption.

Table 5. Sex-specific adjusted odds ratio estimates^a for knowledge and attitudes about vegetable and fruit intake, by food insufficiency status

		Men	W	omen
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI
Does not know 5+ servings/day recommended Food sufficient Food insufficient ^b	1.0 1.0	Reference 0.6–1.8	1.0 1.2	Reference 0.8–1.9
Does not personally believe they need 5+ servings/day Food sufficient Food insufficient ^c	1.0 1.2	Reference 0.7–2.2	1.0 2.0	Reference 1.3–3.1

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

 Stepwise elimination of variables, based on the likelihood ratio method, was used to determine the final multivariate model⁵⁶

b Adjusted for age group, education level, located in a rural community, and vegetable and fruit consumption

c Adjusted for age group, education level, immigrant status, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit to prevent cancer

Significantly more women living in food insufficient (52%) than food sufficient (41%) households felt that they personally did not need to consume the recommended 5 plus servings per day (Figure 16). As well, 78% of food insufficient men felt that they personally did not need to consume the recommended servings per day compared with 68% of their food sufficient counterparts. Yet, this difference was not statistically significant. The provincial prevalence estimates for those who did not think they needed to eat the recommended levels of vegetables and fruit were 63% for men and 38% for women.

* A more in-depth examination of the perceived importance of pesticides will be presented in a future *Insight on Cancer* supplement.

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005 Canadian Cancer Society



Figure 16. Proportion of respondents who did not personally believe they need 5+ servings of vegetables and fruit per day, by food sufficiency status

Women in food insufficient households relative to those in food sufficient households were more likely to not personally believe that they needed to consume the recommended levels (AOR 2.0; 95% CI 1.3-3.1) (Table 5). Although men were also more likely to not believe they needed to eat 5 or more servings per day, the increased odds were statistically significant (AOR 1.2; 95% CI 0.7-2.2). This difference in sex illustrates that many men appeared to have poor attitudes towards their diet irrespective of whether they were at risk for hunger or not, and that food insufficient women were the least likely to believe that they did not need to consume the recommended levels. This finding may be one of the keys to widely replicated results indicating that mothers will and do forego food so that their children can eat.65-79

Self-efficacy is the confidence that a person feels about performing a particular activity, including the confidence in overcoming the barriers to performing that behaviour, and is a primary predictor of intention to engage in healthy eating behaviour.⁸⁰ Only respondents who were planning to eat more vegetables and fruit in the next month were asked how confident they were about this action. Therefore, the analysis was based on a subset of the survey sample. As a result, this variable was not stratified by sex because of the reduced size of the sample.

Based on a distribution of self-efficacy scores (Figure 17), 24% of respondents in food insufficient households had low self-efficacy, 55% had moderate self-efficacy and 21% had high self-efficacy. On the other hand, individuals in food secure households reported significantly better levels of self-efficacy: 16% reported low, 59% moderate, and 26% high self-efficacy with respect to improved vegetable and fruit consumption. Adults in food insufficient households had more than double the odds of having lower confidence in their ability to eat more vegetables and fruit within the next month (AOR 2.2; 95% CI 1.4–3.4) compared with adults in food sufficient households (Table 6). This is not an unexpected finding, given that resource constraints would likely affect their ability to make changes in the short term.

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca

^{*} Significantly higher than food sufficient (p<.05) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003





Figure 17. Proportion of respondents with low self-efficacy* about eating more vegetables and fruit in the next month, by food sufficiency status

* Sample restricted to only those who were eligible to answer this item on the questionnaire (n=1408) ** Significantly higher than food sufficient (p<.05) Source: Cancer Care Ontario, Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey, 2003

Table 6. Adjusted odds ratio estimates^a for self-efficacy toward vegetable and fruit intake, by food insufficiency status

	OR	95% CI
Low self-efficacy about eating more vegetables and fruit in the next month Food sufficient Food insufficient ^b	1.0 2.2	Reference 1.4–3.4

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

a Stepwise elimination of variables, based on the likelihood ratio method,

was used to determine the final multivariate model⁵⁶

b Adjusted for sex, age group, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit intake to prevent cancer [Note: Sample restricted to only those who were eligible to answer this item on the questionnaire (n=1408)]

Of all of these variables, lack of knowledge about what to eat is not directly related to household food insufficiency. However, there appears to be a sexspecific difference with respect to attitudes, particularly among women who live in a household that experienced food insufficiency. These women appear to be twice as likely to weigh whether or not the recommendations are personally relevant compared with women living in food sufficient households. This may in part explain the fact that mothers can, and do, forego eating so that the rest of the family can eat. On the other hand, this study has found that confidence in the ability for dietary change is also significantly lower among food insufficient households. Given their economic circumstances, food insufficient adults are not confident that a change is possible in the near future, and this may also explain in part the attitudinal shift observed, particularly among women.

WHAT ARE THE POLICY IMPLICATIONS?

he analysis from this survey has led to an attempt to understand the scope and the nature of food insecurity and its influence on vegetable and fruit consumption, body weight and physical activity levels of Ontario adults, as these factors play a significant role in the development of cancer.

Availability Issues

Clearly, the availability of produce varies regionally. This finding is particularly significant for Ontarians in the North. There is a federal program in place for the most isolated, fly-in communities, to provide a reliable food supply throughout the year.⁸ Effectively, this program (Food Mail) acts as an alternative to private sector food distribution channels, because it is not economically feasible for this sector to serve these communities. There are 27 eligible communities in Ontario; it is assumed that the communities that use the service do so because their freight costs through Food Mail are equal to or less than regular air cargo rates for both perishable and non-perishable food items.⁸¹ However, the ONCPS results and the Food Mail program outcomes indicate that further research is needed to understand not only how food is or is not distributed in the North, but also the impact of transportation and fuel costs on food prices and availability, particularly for vegetables and fruit. Additional research should also explore the range of policy and program alternatives from other jurisdictions dealing with availability issues due to low population density and distance from major centres. Due to the unique mix of Aboriginal groups in this region, sensitivity to and understanding of the role of traditional diets and consumption patterns, particularly of indigenous plant foods, is also crucial formative research for any interventions being considered. The goal of the research and subsequent policy development would be to ensure a coherent policy framework that strives to make healthy choices the easiest choices through easier access to better

quality and more affordable food in all parts of Ontario.^{82,83}

Access and Household Food Insufficiency

This survey shows that more than 1 in 10 Ontarians, or more than 763,900 Ontario adults, were living in households that were uncertain of having, or unable to acquire, enough food to meet the needs of all their members because they had insufficient money or other resources. The issue of household food insufficiency is not a new one. In 1990 a set of 10 recommendations were given to the Ontario Government's Standing Committee on Social Development in a report on food banks.⁸⁴ This was followed in 1995 by recommendations for ensuring food security for lowincome residents in a report made by the Ontario Task Force on the Primary Prevention of Cancer.⁸⁵

Despite these reports drawing attention to the issue, there was never a clear policy direction set in the subsequent years. More than a decade of provincial and national deficit cutting has resulted in social policy that has produced a set of conditions where Ontario's rates of adult hunger and the risk of going hungry are comparable to the nationwide estimates found in the United States for the same time period. In particular, low income is the strongest predictor for adult hunger in Ontario, and certain household types and groups such as lone males, single parents with children under 18, and those who have immigrated to the province within the past 20 years—are at much higher risk for this outcome, compared with the rest of the population.

In a recent survey of Canadian federal and provincial policy makers, 45% of those civil servants surveyed from finance departments did not believe that they should consider the health consequences of policy alternatives.⁸⁶ This is not to imply that socio-economic

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca



program and policy directives were developed with the intention to force Ontario citizens to go hungry, but rather that the trade-offs of health costs and their implications were not fully considered when these policy objectives were designed and implemented. Consequently, the province is experiencing unprecedented health outcomes due to the policy directions and imperatives made over the past decade.

Recently, the provincial government announced in its budget speech a 3% increase to basic allowance and shelter allowance (the first time there has been an increase in the program in 11 years), as well as no reduction in social assistance benefits for those receiving the federal government's increase to the National Child Benefit Supplement.⁸⁷ This builds on earlier announcements of an increase to the minimum wage (the first increase in 8 years) and ending 60-hour workweeks.⁸⁸ Furthermore, there will be an initial \$9.5million investment toward speeding the integration of foreign trained workers into the workforce.⁸⁷

While this shows a clear signal in the reversal of social policy, much more will be required to assist those vulnerable Ontario adults who cannot even meet the most fundamental of basic human needs: food. In particular, interventions are needed to assist those who may be at much greater risk of developing cancer and other chronic diseases because of their inadequate vegetable and fruit consumption due to being hungry or at risk of being hungry (i.e. food insufficient households defined by lone-parenthood or single adults). However, responses to hunger and inadequate nutrition in Canadian children and families will need to engage and involve many actors—parents and children, governments, community organizations, schools, private business, charitable organizations, and so on—to ensure success.⁸⁹ This study suggests that women in food insufficient households had greater prevalence of obesity and inadequate vegetable and

fruit consumption. However, how the relationships are mediated by other factors cannot be ignored. A preliminary analysis of these data using a causal modelling approach indicated that the association between food insufficiency and obesity among women is significantly mediated by total vegetable and fruit intake.⁹⁰ This result has important implications for further research, especially given the highly correlated nature of the variables of interest. Further analysis using techniques such as path analysis may help further quantify the importance of each factor and their complex relationships.

Smoking

The Ontario Tobacco Research Unit produces annual monitoring reports, which show stable trends of higher prevalence of smoking among individuals with lower socioeconomic status (SES) compared with the rest of the population.^{49,91,92} The ONCPS also confirms this finding, and indicates that Ontario smokers with low SES also have inadequate vegetable and fruit intake. This finding is consistent with other international observations, and as John Potter, cancer epidemiologist notes, "perversely, as smokers have a greater need (given the intake of toxic and carcinogenic compounds) of the micronutrients that such foods provide, it may be that poorer members of society are at significantly elevated risk of cancer both because of the interactive nature of the poor diet and smoking combination and because of the large number of cancers that are related to both exposures."93

The Cessation Sub-committee of the Ontario Tobacco Strategy Steering Committee recently commissioned a paper on the efficaciousness of Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) as part of developing comprehensive cessation services for the province, including higher risk populations where smoking prevalence is much greater than the province-wide population estimate. There was

Canadian Cancer Society

a recommendation to fund, through the Ontario Drug Benefit (a reimbursement program for individuals 65 years or older and individuals on social assistance), NRT and other pharmacotherapies as part of improving access and services to groups with higher smoking rates consistent with those outlined in the Ontario Tobacco Strategy's Cessation Program Logic Model.⁹⁴

> Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca

Canadian Cancer Society

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



IMPLICATIONS FOR FURTHER MONITORING AND SURVEILLANCE

ighty years ago, Bertrand Russell noted that "science enables the holders of power to realize their purposes more fully, than they would otherwise do, but science is no substitute for virtue."95

And this suggests making a meaningful commitment to immediate action, while at the same time trying to evaluate the results of new provincial policy and program directives geared toward alleviating all three aspects of food insecurity—availability, adequacy and access—throughout the province.

In addition to recommendations for the ongoing surveillance of food insecurity issues of the general population of Ontario in order to examine trends over time, monitoring must be initiated related to higher risk populations, which would include those living in Northern regions or isolated communities, families (with special attention to lone-parent families with children under the age of 18), single men and households that have immigrated to Ontario within the past two decades.96 The results of this monitoring should be compiled annually, and a set of indicators should be developed and reported on to both the general public and decision makers (elected and government policy makers) to inform the strategy and set performance standards and accountability for social and health policy decisions and programs.97

Conclusion

To be a source of knowledge means, literally, to be a cause of knowledge. Causes are of a double kind, informative and productive. If knowledge simply informs us, it does not imply action. However if knowledge is a productive cause, it compels us to produce successful human action.⁹⁸ The authors hope that the knowledge presented in this report will stimulate dialogue among key stakeholders and produce purposeful action on the important issue of food security.

APPENDIX 1: What were the primary objectives of the survey relevant to food insecurity, dietary risk factors and cancer prevention in the adult population of ontario?

- 1. Does perception of vegetable and fruit prices modify consumption? Are there any regions of Ontario that are at increased risk? Does perception of cost have an impact on the risk of being food insecure?
- 2. Does vegetable and fruit availability modify consumption? Are there any regions of Ontario that are at increased risk? Does availability have an influence on the risk of being food insufficient?
- 3. What is the prevalence of food insufficiency (with and without hunger) among adults aged 18–64 in Ontario? Are there any regions of Ontario or differences among rural and urban communities that influence the risk? How does this compare to other jurisdictions? Are there any periods during the year or during the month where food insufficiency and hunger are more likely to occur?
- 4. What sociodemographic factors affect the risk of being food insufficient (age, ethnicity, geographic region, education, income, number of children, etc)?

- 5. Does smoking behaviour link to being at risk for household food insufficiency?
- 6. Does being food insufficient (with/without hunger) reduce consumption of vegetables and fruit in Ontario adults?
- 7. Does being food insufficient (with/without hunger) modify BMI (both below and above healthy weight range of 18.5–24.9)?
- 8. Does being food insufficient (with/without hunger) modify physical inactivity?
- 9. What is the role of food insufficiency on knowledge, attitudes and beliefs (KAB) and self-efficacy (SE)?

APPENDIX 2: ONCPS QUESTIONS APPLICABLE TO THE FOOD SECURITY SUPPLEMENT

Food security*

Sometimes people cannot afford to eat the food they would like to eat. The next questions are about the food eaten in your household in the last 12 months and whether you were able to afford the food you need. I'm going to read you two statements that some people have made about their food situation.

Note: Respondents whose house or roommates do not share food or food costs were not asked the following questions.

The first statement is "The food that I/we bought just didn't last, and I/we didn't have money to get more." Was that often, sometimes, or never true for you in the last 12 months?

I/We couldn't afford to eat balanced meals: was that often, sometimes, or never true for you in the last 12 months?

In the last 12 months did you ever cut the size of your meals or skip meals because there wasn't enough money for food? (Yes, No)

(If Yes) How often did this happen – almost every month, some months but not every month, or in only 1 or 2 months?

In the last 12 months, did you personally ever eat less than you felt you should because there wasn't enough money to buy food? (Yes, No)

In the last 12 months, were you personally ever hungry but did not eat because you couldn't afford enough food? (Yes, No)

Age

In what year were you born?And in what month was that?

Birthplace, immigrant status

In what country were you born?

For how many years have you lived in Canada?

Ethnic group

To what ethnic or cultural group do you belong? [Respondents can provide up to 5 groups]

Language

What language do you speak most often at home?

Education level

What is the highest level of education you have obtained?

Household income

Could you please tell me how much you and other members of your household received in the year ending December 31st 2000, before taxes? Please include income from all sources such as savings, pensions, rent, as well as wages.

To the nearest thousand dollars, what was your total household income?

* Adapted from the United States 6-item food security module²⁶

Canadian Cancer Society

We don't need the exact amount; could you tell me which of these broad categories it falls into:

- 1. Less than \$10,000
- 2. Between \$10,000 and \$20,000
- 3. Between \$20,000 and \$30,000
- 4. Between \$30,000 and \$40,000
- 5. Between \$40,000 and \$50,000
- 6. Between \$50,000 and \$60,000
- 7. Between \$60,000 and \$70,000
- 8. Between \$70,000 and \$80,000
- 9. Between \$80,000 and \$90,000
- 10. Between \$90,000 and \$100,000
- 11. More than \$100,000?
- 12. Don't know
- 13. Refused

Household size

Including yourself, how many people live in your household?

How many are children under 18?

Self-reported health

In general, compared to other people your age, would you say your health is excellent, very good, good, fair or poor?

Chronic conditions

Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you have:

- 1. diabetes
- 2. heart disease
- 3. high cholesterol
- 4. hypertension or high blood pressure
- 5. diverticulitis or bowel disease (e.g., Crohns, inflammatory disease, ulcerative colitis, celiac disease)
- 6. kidney disease?

Smoking status

Next, questions about smoking.

At the present time do you smoke cigarettes daily, occasionally, or not at all?

Have you smoked at least 100 cigarettes in your life?

[If subject is not currently smoking and has never smoked 100 cigarettes, skip this question] How long ago was it that you last smoked cigarettes. Was it less than one week ago, more than one week but less than a month ago, 1 to 6 months ago, 7 to 11 months ago, 1 to 5 years ago, or more than 5 years ago?

Physical activity

Please think about physical activities or exercises that you do during your normal day, including at work, at school, doing chores and in your leisure time.

On how many days, in a usual week, do you exercise or participate for 10 minutes or more in activities that increase your breathing or make your heart beat faster?

For how long do you do these types of activities in a typical day?

Body measurements

How tall are you without shoes?

How much do you weigh?

Vegetable and fruit intake

Please think about the foods you have eaten over the past month including foods and beverages that were part of meals and snacks, at home and away from home.

Cancer Care Ontario



Over the past month, how many times per day, per week, or per month did you eat/drink:

- french fries, hash browns or poutine?
- other potatoes, such as baked potatoes, boiled potatoes, mashed potatoes or potato salad?
- lettuce salads with or without other vegetables in them?
- 100% vegetable juices like tomato or V-8?
- other vegetables including raw, cooked, canned or frozen?
- · soups made mostly with vegetables?
- tomato sauces with foods such as spaghetti or pasta?
- fresh, frozen or canned fruit?
- 100% fruit juices?

For each food item consumed:

If one portion of [food item] is about ? cup, each time you ate [food item] how many portions did you usually eat?

Knowledge about vegetables and fruit

How many servings of fruits and vegetables do you think government and health agencies recommend that adults eat every day?

Attitude toward vegetables and fruit

For yourself, how many servings of fruits and vegetables do you think you need to eat every day to stay healthy?

Facilitators and barriers of consumption

People eat fruit for different reasons. Please tell me if each of the following reasons are very important, somewhat important or not important to why you personally eat fruit:

- eating fruit makes you feel better
- eating fruit helps you control your weight
- eating fruit has been part of your diet since childhood

For each of the following, please tell me if you agree, neither agree nor disagree, or disagree.

- fruit is expensive
- fruit spoils too quickly
- concern about pesticides prevents you from eating more fruit
- preparing fruit takes too much time and planning
- there is not enough information about how to prepare fruit
- there is not enough information about how to store fruit
- concern about genetically modified foods prevents you from eating more fruit

Now please think about vegetables. [Questions repeated for vegetables].

Now please think about both fruits and vegetables.

- Eating fruits and vegetables helps you stay healthy. Is this is very important, somewhat important or not important to why you eat fruit?
- Eating fruits and vegetables helps you prevent cancer. Is this is very important, somewhat important or not important to why you eat fruit?
- Most fruits and vegetables taste good. Do you agree, neither agree nor disagree, or disagree?
- Good quality fruits and vegetables are not available where you shop or get food. Do you agree, neither agree nor disagree, or disagree?

Self-efficacy

Are you seriously thinking of eating more fruit and vegetables starting sometime in the next 6 months? (Yes, No)

(If Yes) During the next month, are you planning to eat more fruit and vegetables? (Yes, No)

(If Yes) On a scale from 0 to 10, where 0 means that you are not at all confident and 10 means that you are totally confident, how confident are you that you will eat more fruits and vegetables in the next month?

Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca

APPENDIX 3: DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF THE SURVEY SAMPLE

Characteristics	Total (n = 3,004)	Men (n = 1,329)	Women (n = 1,675)
Age group			
18–34	33.7	36.1	31.7
35-49	39.8	40.5	39.2
50-64	24.6	22.1	26.5
Missing	20	1.3	26
Region	2.0	1.0	2.0
Northwest	11 7	12 1	11 4
Northeast	11.8	11 1	12.2
South/Southwest	11.9	12.6	11 3
Central West	11.8	11.3	12.2
Central Fast	40.8	41 5	40.3
Fast/Southeast	12.1	11.4	12.6
Area of residence			12.0
Urban	75.6	75.0	76.1
Rural	14.8	13.6	15.7
Missing	96	11 4	82
Household type	0.0		0.2
1 Adult	20.2	19.6	20.6
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	52	21	77
2 Adults	25.7	26.9	24.8
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	28.6	28.1	29.0
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	20.0	23.0	17.8
Missing	0.2	0.2	02
Immigrant status	0.2	0.2	0.2
North American-born	76.6	75 4	77 7
Immigrated <20 years Europe	12.5	14.0	11.3
Immigrated 20+ years Europe	10.4	10.3	10.4
Missing	0.5	0.5	0.6
Ethnic group	0.0	0.0	0.0
Canadian/European	81.2	78 7	83.2
South/Southeast Asian	87	93	83
Other	81	10.2	6.3
Missing	20	17	22
Language spoken most at home	2.0	1.7	2.2
English	85 5	83.9	86 7
Erench Italian German Portuguese	47	44	50
Spanish	-1.7	-11	0.0
Chinese	21	21	21
Other	74	93	59
Missing	0.4	0.3	0.4
Education level	0.1	0.0	0.1
< High school	10.4	11 4	96
High school	23.6	24.5	22.9
Some post-secondary	35.1	33.7	36.1
University	30.2	29.4	31 1
Missing	0.6	10	04
Household income	0.0		5.7
low	99	76	11.6
Middle	15.7	12.9	17.9
Upper-middle	29.7	30.5	29.1
High	43.1	47.6	39.5
Missing	16	1 4	1 9
wissing	0.1	1.4	1.9

Table 1. Selected characteristics of the sample

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



Characteristics	Total	Men	Women
	(n = 3,004)	(n = 1,329)	(n = 1,675)
Self-reported health			
Excellent	22.3	21.6	22.9
Very good	36.4	35.0	37.5
Good	30.3	32.8	28.4
Fair	8.5	8.2	8.7
Poor	2.2	2.2	2.2
Missing	0.3	0.2	0.4
Number of chronic conditions			
0	72.7	73.0	72.5
1	26.1	26.2	26.1
Missing	1.1	0.8	1.4
Specific conditions			
Diabetes			
Νο	95.7	95.3	95.9
Yes	4.1	4.6	3.8
Missing	0.2	0.08	0.3
Heart disease			
No	96.9	96.1	97.5
Yes	3.0	3.8	2.3
Missing	0.2	0.08	0.2
High cholesterol			
No	86 6	85.8	87 3
Yes	13.0	13.9	12.3
Missing	0.4	0.3	0.4
Hypertension			
No	86.9	87.7	86.2
Yes	13.0	12.3	13.5
Missing	02	0	03
Bowel disease		-	
No	96.0	97.4	94.8
Yes	37	23	48
Missing	0.3	0.2	0.4
Kidney disease			
No	98.6	98.4	98.8
Yes	12	14	11
Missing	0.2	0.2	0.2
Smoking status	0.2	0.2	0.2
Non	46.9	41 1	51 5
Former	27.0	29.5	25.0
Current	27.0	29.0	23.0
Missing	0 /	23.0	20.1 0 /
Missing	U.7	U. T	U.T

Table 1. Selected characteristics of the sample (continued)

Canadian Cancer Society
www.cancer.ca

Comparison with the 2001 Census Data

The ONCPS over-represents women (56%) compared with the general population of adults in Ontario (51%); however it is representative of the provincial age distribution (Table 2) and region (Table 3). The sample is also comparable with the 2001 Census data with respect to the highest level of education attained (Table 4). Overall the sample is comparable for total household income, however it under-represents adults from households with a reported income of \$10,000–\$19,999 per year (Table 5).

The ONCPS sample was also compared with the 2001 Census for country of birth and ethnicity (Table 6 and Table 7). The sample is representative of adults who were born in the United States, Europe, Australia and New Zealand, Africa, and those born in Central or South America and the Caribbean. However, the sample overrepresents Canadian-born males and females aged 25–44 years and 45–64 years, while it under-represents males and females aged 15–24 years. The latter may be because the ONCPS did not include individuals under the age of 18 years. Furthermore, adult males aged 25–44 years who were born in Asia were over-represented in the sample compared with the 2001 Census (Table 6).

A similar pattern was observed for ethnic group. Ethnically Canadian males and females older than 24 years were over-represented in the sample, whereas those aged 15–24 years were under-represented. Men aged 25–44 claiming East Asian, Southeast Asian, or South Asian ancestry, as well as females of the same age with African heritage, were over-represented in the sample (Table 7).

As a consequence of reporting methods, it is not possible to accurately compare this sample with the 2001 Census data for household composition, especially for single person and single parent households. This is a limitation given household composition is an important variable alone and when considering household income levels.

> Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca



Table 2. 2001 Census comparison for age group

Sex	Statistic	Age group								
		20–24	25–29	30–34	35–39	40–44	45–49	50–54	55–59	60–64
М	% difference	0.02	-0.72	-0.58	-0.55	-0.24	-1.19	1.48	0.55	1.23
	Z	0.0069	-0.2716	-0.2210	-0.2090	-0.0913	-0.4509	0.5500	0.2022	0.4494
F	% difference	1.47	-0.54	1.16	-1.21	0.13	0.52	-0.14	0.46	-1.83
	Z	0.6085	-0.2265	0.4886	-0.5220	0.0560	0.2186	-0.0608	0.1891	-0.7605

Table 3. 2001 Census comparison for region by sex and age group

Region	Sex	Statistic					Age Group				
		-	20–24	25–29	30–34	35–39	40-44	45–49	50–54	55-59	60–64
Northwoot	м	% difference	1 47	0.52	1 1 5	0.16	4 90	4.24	1 1 2	0.05	0.45
Northwest	IVI	Z	-0.1907	0.0682	0.1480	-0.0208	0.6205	-4.24 -0.5725	-0.1482	0.0067	0.0570
	F	% difference	2.92	1.57	1.31	1.72	-4.99 0.7593	3.02	-0.77	-1.27	-3.51
Northeast	М	% difference	1.90	-0.76	-0.28	-1.04	-2.01	-5.29	4.90	2.42	0.18
	F	Z % difference	0.2345 0.22	-0.0949 1.58	-0.0355 -1.58	-0.1339 -4.33	-0.2610 4.70	-0.6954 2.40	0.6062 -1.20	0.2993 1.20	0.0225 -2.97
		Z	0.0318	0.2295	-0.2353	-0.6696	0.6927	0.3563	-0.1796	0.1758	-0.4429
South/Southwest	М	% difference Z	3.34 0.4289	2.59 0.3324	-6.35 -0.8639	1.18 0.1550	-1.35 -0.1801	3.23 0.4178	0.12 0.0161	-4.48 -0.5924	1.75 0.2212
	F	% difference	-0.70	-2.39	-0.92	-1.83	2.20	-0.78	3.56	2.03	-1.17
Central West	М	∠ % difference	-3.29	3.97	-3.08	-4.66	-1.60	0.34	2.12	0.2815	5.78
	F	Z % difference	-0.4169	0.4823	-0.3926	-0.6098	-0.2053	0.0425	0.2623	0.0512	0.6856
	·	Z	0.1329	-0.2835	0.3629	-0.1530	-0.2257	0.2113	-0.2885	0.0238	0.1944
Central East	М	% difference	-0.78	-2.59	0.28	-1.54	-0.90	-0.23	3.15	2.19	0.42
	F	% difference	2.00	-2.19	0.66	-1.97	-0.76	0.43	0.79	1.42	-0.39
East/Southeast	м	Z % difference	0.5204 0.83	-0.5871 -5.71	0.1768 0.23	-0.5369 3.81	-0.2038 2.35	0.1147 -1.66	0.2082 -2.51	0.3652 0.19	-0.1015 2.47
		Z	0.1059	-0.7534	0.0297	0.4876	0.3030	-0.2175	-0.3281	0.0244	0.3069
	F	% difference Z	1.34 0.1972	1.35 0.1980	3.53 0.5170	0.81 0.1221	4.08 0.6052	-1.90 -0.2888	-1.89 -0.2865	-1.60 -0.2385	-5.73 -0.8658

Canadian Cancer Society
www.cancer.ca

Education level	Sex	Sex	Statistic				Age Group			
		-	20–24	25–29	30–34	35–39	40–44	45–54	55–64	
Less than high school	М	% difference	1.77	1.71	0.45	3.97	-1.77	-1.98	-4.17	
0		Z	0.2129	0.2043	0.0545	0.4809	-0.2238	-0.2688	-0.5776	
	F	% difference	1.35	-0.05	0.33	5.44	1.43	6.44	-14.94	
		Z	0.1705	-0.0061	0.0427	0.6895	0.1874	0.8899	-2.4927	
High school	М	% difference	0.65	3.17	-0.72	-1.73	-1.84	3.56	-3.10	
-		Z	0.1208	0.5679	-0.1321	-0.3254	-0.3475	0.6833	-0.5791	
	F	% difference	2.11	3.24	1.60	-5.80	1.35	1.58	-4.06	
		Z	0.4026	0.6099	0.3079	-1.1952	0.2696	0.3409	-0.8345	
Some post-secondary	M	% difference	-1.16	-2.15	0.20	0.80	0.29	0.09	1.94	
		Z	-0.2608	-0.4789	0.0445	0.1782	0.0637	0.0211	0.4259	
	F	% difference	0.90	-1.90	1.42	1.25	-1.30	0.35	-0.73	
		Z	0.2301	-0.4874	0.3608	0.3232	-0.3377	0.0955	-0.1867	
University	M	% difference	-0.28	-1.26	0.17	-2.25	1.12	-1.22	3.71	
		Z	-0.0566	-0.2630	0.0354	-0.4826	0.2325	-0.2762	0.7602	
	F	% difference	0.70	0.95	3.18	-1.67	1.32	-2.31	-2.17	
		Z	0.1623	0.2321	0.7662	-0.4120	0.3148	-0.5923	-0.5141	

Table 4. 2001 Census comparison for highest education level

Table 5. 2001 Census comparison for total household income

Statistic	Total Household Income Groups										
	< \$10,000	\$10,000 - \$19,999	\$20,000 - \$29,999	\$30,000 - \$39,999	\$40,000 - \$49,999	\$50,000 - \$59,999	\$60,000 - \$69,999	\$70,000 - \$79,999	\$80,000 - \$89,999	\$90,000 - \$99,999	\$100,000+
% difference Z	1.87 1.0104	4.14 2.2727	1.69 0.9408	-1.58 -0.8953	-0.59 -0.3335	-1.32 -0.7420	-1.35 -0.7558	-0.53 -0.2939	-0.36 -0.2000	0.32 0.1750	-2.30 -1.3680

A box around a set of numbers indicates a significant difference (Z > ±1.96); a positive statistic indicates the sample is under-representative compared with the Census

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



Table 6. 2001 Census comparison for country of birth

Country of Birth	Sex	Statistic	Age Group			
		-	15-24 ^ª	25–44	45–64	
Canada	М	% difference Z	11.72 3.7815	-6.49 -2.8524	-5.24 -1.9916	
	F	% difference	12.77	-6.15	-6.62	
		Z	4.6526	-3.0909	-2.9304	
US, Europe, Australia, New Zealand	M	% difference	1.76	-7.60	5.83	
		Z	0.2167	-1.1934	1.0180	
	F	% difference	2.65	-2.05	-0.62	
		Z	0.3764	-0.3592	-0.1331	
East, Southeast, South Asia	M	% difference	7.50	-16.63	9.13	
		Z	0.7051	-2.6741	0.9509	
	F	% difference	4.64	-9.99	5.34	
		Z	0.4705	-1.6098	0.6092	
West, Central Asia, Middle East	Μ	% difference	4.58	-28.96	24.37	
		Z	0.2459	-3.1082	1.2189	
	F	% difference	-0.32	-15.49	15.80	
		Z	-0.0107	-0.8047	0.5028	
Africa	М	% difference	7.74	-17.63	9.89	
		Z	0.4110	-1.6206	0.5747	
	F	% difference	6.98	10.07	-17.04	
		Z	0.2428	0.4524	-0.7654	
Central Am, South Am, Caribbean [♭]	Μ	% difference	2.47	0.07	-2.54	
		Z	0.1877	0.0073	-0.2327	
	F	% difference	-3.52	11.35	-7.83	
		Z	-0.2858	1.2672	-0.7370	

Abbreviations: US, United States; Am, America

a ONCPS only includes indicates a significant difference (Z > ±1.96); a positive statistic indicates the sample is under-representative and a negative statistic indicates the sample is over-representative compared with the Census

Table 7. 2001 Census comparison for ethnic group

Ethnic Group	Sex	Statistic	Age Group			
		-	15–24 ^ª	25–44	45–64	
North American, European⁵	М	% difference	12.21	-7.03	-5.18	
•		Z	4.0947	-3.1827	-2.1049	
	F	% difference	12.73	-5.14	-7.59	
		Z	4.8572	-2.6589	-3.6619	
East, Southeast, South Asia	M	% difference	11.00	-15.48	4.48	
		Z	1.2024	-2.6611	0.5307	
	F	% difference	10.04	-10.10	0.06	
		Z	1.1443	-1.6788	0.0073	
West, Central Asian, Middle East	M	% difference	11.28	-6.87	-4.39	
		Z	1.0491	-0.9113	-0.4526	
	F	% difference	6.53	-11.44	4.92	
		Z	0.4748	-1.2297	0.3575	
African	M	% difference	17.69	-13.19	-4.50	
		Z	0.9549	-1.1260	-0.2787	
	F	% difference	4.06	-42.08	-14.98	
		Z	0.1994	-2.8264	-0.7347	
Central Am, South Am, Caribbean ^c	M	% difference	0.46	-2.26	1.80	
		Z	0.0214	-0.1281	0.0832	
	F	% difference	-1.58	8.27	-6.70	
		Z	-0.0904	0.5340	-0.4185	

Abbreviations: Am, American a ONCPS only includes individuals aged 18–64 b Includes Australian and New Zealander c Includes Bermudan A box around a set of numbers indicates a significant difference (Z > ±1.96); a positive statistic indicates the sample is under-representative and a negative statistic indicates the sample is over-representative compared with the Census

APPENDIX 4: DATA TABLES

Table 1. Responses (weighted proportions) to individual items on the food security scale

	Total
	(n=2,997)
Affirmative responses to individual items, %	
Food didn't last and no money for more (often/sometimes)	15.3
Couldn't afford to eat balanced meals (often/sometimes)	12.7
Cut size of meals or skipped meals	5.1
If yes, how often (almost every month/some months)	3.6
Ate less because not enough money	4.4
Hungry but couldn't afford food	3.1
Summed affirmative responses. %	
0	80.7
1	7.9
2	5.4
3	2.1
4	1.4
5	1.5
6	1.0

Table 2. Weighted proportion of daily vegetable and fruit intake by sex, perceived cost and availability

	n ^ª (n=2997) —	Daily servings of vegetables and fruit				
		0–2 (n=212)	>2–<5 (n=986)	5 (n=1791)		
Sex						
Men	1323	10	35	55	*	
Women	1674	5	31	64		
V/F too expensive						
Agree	1216	8.1	35.4	56.5		
Neither agree nor disagree	318	8.2	29.6	62.2		
Disagree	1463	6.8	30.9	62.3		
Good quality V/F aren't available						
Agree	444	9.3	37.7	53.0		
Neither agree nor disagree	177	11.5	30.4	58.1		
Disagree	2376	6.8	31.9	61.3		

Abbreviations: V/F, vegetables and fruit

a Unweighted sample size

Differences between numbers within the box are statistically significant. Chi square: * p<.001

Table 3. Weighted proportion of respondents who agree that good quality vegetables and fruit
are not available in their area and are too expensive, by region

Region	Available	Expensive		
Ontario	13.1	39.9		
Northwest	24.5	* 49.3		
Northeast	22.6	46.3		
South/Southwest	12.1	42.1		
Central West	11.3	39.3		
Central East	12.3	38.1		
East/Southeast	11.1	40.7		

Cancer Care Ontario

www.cancercare.on.ca

Canadian Cancer Society

www.cancer.ca

insight on cancer

volume two - supplement two • april 2005

Differences between numbers within the box are statistically significant. Chi square: * p<.01



Variable	n° (n=2997)	Food sufficient (n=2644)	Food insufficient without hunger (n=271)	Hunger (n=82)	
Overall		88.6	8.9	2.5	
Sex					
Men	1323	89.9	8.5	1.6	
Women	1674	87.4	9.3	3.3	
Age group	,				
18–34	1007	85.4	11.4	3.2	**
35–49	1191	88.5	8.9	2.6	
50–64	738	93.4	5.2	1.4	
Region					
Northwest	351	87.8	9.1	3.1	*
Northeast	354	89.8	8.2	2.0	
South/Southwest	356	86.8	9.3	3.9	
Central West	354	85.8	10.5	3.7	
Central East	1221	87.2	10.6	2.2	
East/Southeast	361	92.8	4.7	2.5	
Area of residence					
Urban	2266	88.5	9.2	2.3	
Rural	444	92.2	6.4	1.4	
Household type					
1 Adult	604	84.7	10.7	4.6	*
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	157	76.0	17.3	6.7	
2 Adults	771	90.9	7.3	1.8	
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	858	89.5	8.6	1.9	
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	601	88.0	9.3	2.7	
Immigrant status	-				
Canadian-born	2249	89.8	7.6	2.6	**
Immigrated <20 years	387	81.2	15.2	3.6	
Immigrated 20+ years	345	89.5	9.5	1.0	
Education level					
< High school	311	77.3	14.9	7.8	***
High school	709	86.1	10.1	3.8	
Some post-secondary	1051	89.0	9.1	1.9	
University	907	93.3	6.0	0.7	
Household income	,				
Low	292	72.5	18.6	8.9	***
Middle	471	79.7	14.6	5.7	
Upper-middle	892	89.2	9.9	0.9	
High	1293	93.6	5.0	1.4	
Self-reported health status					
Excellent, very good, good	2668	89.7	8.1	2.2	***
Fair, poor	320	79.9	15.4	4.7	
Chronic conditions					
0	2179	88.9	9.1	2.0	
1+	784	87.6	8.3	4.1	
Smoking status					
Non	1405	90.4	7.8	1.8	**
Former	809	90.3	8.0	1.7	
Current	//1	83.2	12.0	4.8	
V/F too expensive					
Agree	1216	80.5	14.7	4.8	***
Neither agree nor disagree	318	92.2	5.7	2.1	
Disagree	1463	94.3	4.9	0.8	
Good quality V/F aren't available					
Agree	444	77.4	16.8	5.8	***
Neither agree nor disagree	177	83.1	13.5	3.4	
Disagree	2376	90.8	7.3	1.9	

Table 4. Weighted prevalence (%) of food sufficiency status by selected characteristics

Abbreviations: V/F, vegetables and fruit a Unweighted sample size; sample sizes vary due to missing data

b Chronic conditions requiring significant dietary change Differences between numbers within the box are statistically significant. Chi square: * p<.05; ** p<.01; *** p<.001

Variable	n ^ª (n=2997)	Food sufficient (n=2644)	Food insufficient without hunger (n=271)	Hunger (n=82)	
Men					
Household type	T				
1 Adult	260	83.2	13.2	3.6	*
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	28	87.4	11.9	0.7	
2 Adults	356	92.2	5.8	2.0	
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	373	92.4	6.4	1.2	
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	303	88.4	10.4	1.2	
Women	-				
Household type					
1 Adult	344	85.7	8.9	5.4	**
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	129	73.7	18.4	7.9	
2 Adults	415	89.9	8.5	1.6	
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	485	87 4	10.2	24	
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	298	87.7	8.1	4.2	

Table 5. Sex-specific weighted prevalence (%) of food insufficiency by household type

a Unweighted sample size; sample size does not sum to total due to missing data Differences between numbers within the box are statistically significant. Chi square: * p<.05; ** p<.01

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca **Canadian Cancer Society** www.cancer.ca

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



Variable	Crude OR	Adjusted ^ª OR (95% CI)			
	(95% Cl)	Full Model	Final Model ^b		
Sex					
Men	0.8 (0.6–1.1)	0.8 (0.6–1.0)	0.8 (0.6–1.0)		
Women	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
Age group			. ,		
18–34	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
35–49	0.8 (0.6–1.1)	0.6 (0.4–0.8)	0.6 (0.5–0.9)		
50–64	0.4 (0.3–0.7)	0.2 (0.1–0.4)	0.3 (0.2–0.4)		
Region					
Northwest	1.0 (0.7–1.4)	0.7 (0.4–1.2)	NS		
Northeast	0.8 (0.5–1.2)	0.7 (0.4–1.2)			
South/Southwest	1.0 (0.7–1.5)	0.8 (0.5–1.2)			
	1.1 (0.8–1.6)	1.0 (0.6–1.5)			
	1.0 (Reference)				
East/Southeast	0.5 (0.3–0.8)	0.5 (0.3–0.8)			
	1.0 (Poforonac)	10 (Poference)	Ne		
Urban Bural	0.7(0.4, 1, 1)	1.0 (Reference)	113		
	0.7 (0.4–1.1)	0.8 (0.5–1.3)			
1 Adult	16(11-22)	17(11-26)	17(11_26)		
1 Adult with child(ren) <18	27(16-45)	22(12-40)	21 (12-37)		
2 Adults	0.9(0.6-1.3)	14(0.8-2.2)	14(0.9-2.1)		
2 Adults with child(ren) <18	1 0 (Reference)	1 0 (Reference)	1 0 (Reference)		
Multiple adults with/without child(ren) <18	1.2 (0.8–1.8)	1.1 (0.7–1.7)	1.2 (0.8–1.9)		
Immigrant status					
Canadian-born	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
Immigrated <20 years	2.0 (1.4–3.0)	1.6 (1.1–2.5)	1.8 (1.2–2.7)		
Immigrated 20+ years	1.0 (0.6–1.8)	1.3 (0.8–2.3)	1.7 (1.0–2.8)		
Education level					
< High school	4.1 (2.4–7.0)	2.4 (1.3–4.5)	2.4 (1.4–4.2)		
High school	2.2 (1.4–3.5)	1.6 (1.0–2.6)	1.6 (1.0–2.5)		
Some post-secondary	1.7 (1.1–2.7)	1.2 (0.8–1.9)	1.3 (0.9–1.9)		
University	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
Household income					
Low	5.6 (3.6–8.9)	4.8 (2.9–7.9)	4.3 (2.8–6.8)		
	3.8 (2.4–5.9)	3.1 (1.9–4.8)	2.9 (1.9–4.4)		
Upper-middle Liab	1.0(1.2-2.0)	1.9(1.2-2.0)	1.7 (1.1-2.4)		
Calf reported bealth status	1.0 (Relefence)	1.0 (Relefence)	1.0 (Reference)		
Excellent very good good	10 (Reference)	10 (Reference)	10 (Reference)		
Fair poor	22 (1 4-3 4)	1 4 (0 9–2 3)	16 (10-24)		
Chronic conditions ^c	()	(0.0 2.0)			
0	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	NS		
1+	1.1 (0.8–1.6)	1.3 (0.9–2.0)			
Smoking status					
Non	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
Former	1.0 (0.7–1.6)	1.1 (0.7–1.7)	1.1 (0.8–1.7)		
Current	1.9 (1.4–2.7)	1.7 (1.2–2.4)	1.8 (1.3–2.5)		
V/F too expensive					
Agree	4.0 (2.9–5.7)	2.9 (2.1–4.1)	3.1 (2.2–4.2)		
Neither agree nor disagree	1.4 (0.8–2.5)	1.3 (0.7–2.3)	1.4 (0.8–2.3)		
Disagree	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)		
	20(20, 40)	20(12.28)			
Ayree Neither agree por disagree	2.9 (2.0-4.2) 2.0 (1.4.27)	2.U (1.3–2.8) 1.5 (0.0.2.7)	1.7 (1.2-2.4)		
Neither agree nor uisagree	2.0(1.1-3.7) 10(Reference)	1.0 (0.9-2.7) $1.0 (Reference)$	1.0 (0.9-2.7) 1.0 (Reference)		
Disaglee					

Table 6. Crude and adjusted^a odds ratio estimates (95% confidence limits) for food insufficiency related to selected sociodemographic and health-related variables

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; NS, not significant; V/F, vegetables and fruit

a Adjusted for all other variables in the model

b The final model was determined using backward elimination (refer to Methods, Appendix 5). Variables were eliminated in this order: area of residence, chronic conditions, and region c Chronic conditions requiring significant dietary change

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca

Table 7. Crude and adjusted odds ratios for selected outcomes related to knowledge, attitude, self-efficacy and behaviour around vegetable and fruit consumption, overweight and obesity and physical inactivity, by food sufficiency status, and perceived cost or availability of vegetables and fruit, stratified by sex

		Men				
	%ª	Crude OR (95% Cl)	Adjusted OR (95% Cl)	%ª	Crude OR (95% Cl)	Adjusted OR (95% Cl)
Does not know 5+ servings/day recommended						
Food sufficient Food insufficient ^b	51.5 61.7	1.0 (Reference) 1.5 (0.8–2.8)	1.0 (Reference) 1.0 (0.6–1.8)	26.4 33.8	1.0 (Reference) 1.4 (0.9–2.3)	1.0 (Reference) 1.2 (0.8–1.9)
Does not personally believe the need 5+ servings/day						
Food sufficient Food insufficient ^e	68.2 78.4	1.0 (Reference) 1.7 (0.9–3.2)	1.0 (Reference) 1.2 (0.7–2.2)	40.5 * 52.4	1.0 (Reference) 1.6 (1.1–2.4)	1.0 (Reference) 2.0 (1.3–3.1)
Ate <5 servings/day of vegetables and fruit						
Food sufficient	43.6	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	33.5 ***	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)
Food insufficient ^d	55.8	1.6 (1.0–2.7)	1.3 (0.8–2.1)	52.0	2.2 (1.5–3.2)	1.7 (1.2–2.6)
Agree/Neither agree nor disagree that vegetables and fruit are expensive ^e	44.2	1.0 (0.7–1.3)	1.0 (0.8–1.3)	40.9 ***	1.6 (1.3–2.1)	1.7 (1.3–2.1)
Disagree that vegetables and fruit are expensive	45.4	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	29.7	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)
Agree/Neither agree nor disagree that good quality vegetables and fruit are available ^f	44.8	1.0 (0.7–1.4)	1.1 (0.8–1.5)	46.0 ***	1.7 (1.2–2.4)	1.5 (1.1–2.0)
Disagree that good quality vegetables and fruit are available	43.7	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	33.4	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)
Overweight or obese (BMI 25+)						
Food sufficient	62.5	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	33.4 *	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)
Food insufficient"	56.3	0.8 (0.5–1.2)	0.6 (0.4–0.9)	43.2	1.5 (1.0–2.3)	1.8 (1.2–2.6)
Physically active <3 hours/week						
Food sufficient	42.6	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)	52.9	1.0 (Reference)	1.0 (Reference)
Food insufficient ^h	44.3	1.1 (0.6–1.8)	1.0 (0.6–1.6)	53.1	1.0 (0.7–1.5)	0.9 (0.6–1.2)
	% ^a	Cr	ude OR		Adjusted OR	
Low self officery about esting more vegetables and fruit						
in the next month						
Food sufficient	15.5 *	1.0 (F	Reference)		1.0 (Reference)	
roou insuncient	24.1	1.7	(1.1-2.0)		2.2 (1.4–3.4)	

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval a Weighted proportion b Adjusted for age group, education level, located in a rural community, and vegetable and fruit consumption c Adjusted for age group, education level, inmigrant status, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit to prevent cancer d Adjusted for age group, education level, encore mobult pesticides on vegetables and fruit, cancer risk perception, and attitude toward eating vegetables and fruit e Adjusted for age group, education level, and level of physical activity f Adjusted for age group, education level, and level of physical activity h Adjusted for age group, education level, and level of physical activity h Adjusted for age group, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit intake to prevent cancer i Adjusted for age group, education level, and level of physical activity h Adjusted for age group, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit intake to prevent cancer i Adjusted for age group, located in a rural community, and eat vegetables and fruit intake to prevent cancer i (Note: Sample ros small for sex-specific analysis] Differences between numbers within the box are statistically significant. Chi square: * p<.05; ** p<.01; *** p<.001

APPENDIX 5: GLOSSARY OF TERMS, DATA SOURCES AND METHODS

Glossary of Terms

Attitudes

Determined by an individual's beliefs about the attributes of performing a health behaviour, weighted by their evaluation of those attributes.⁸⁰

Body mass index (BMI)

A measure of body weight adjusted for height, calculated as weight in kilograms/(height in metres squared). Generally categorized as underweight, healthy, overweight or obese.

Confidence interval (CI)

The computed range of plausible values for the measure of association between variables (e.g., an odds ratio) with a given probability (e.g., 95%) in which the true value will lie. A 95% Cl for an odds ratio indicates that 95 times out of 100 the true value of the odds ratio is contained within the interval. When the 95% Cl includes 1.0, the odds ratio is considered not to be different from 1.0 (i.e., the odds for those eating fewer than 5 servings per day is not significantly different from those eating 5+ servings per day). The observed difference between the odds ratio is therefore due to chance alone. If the Cl does not include 1.0, then there is a statistically significant difference between the odds ratio and 1.0. If the upper limit of the Cl is less than 1.0 then the odds ratio is significantly low and if the lower limit of the Cl is above 1.0 then the odds ratio is significantly high.

Education level

Less than high school includes anyone who did not graduate from high school. High school refers to high school graduates, without any post-secondary training. Some post-secondary includes individuals who had some community college, technical school or university, or had completed community college or technical school. University refers to people who held at least a bachelor's degree.

Ethnic group

The social or cultural group to which respondents identified belonging to. Respondents had the opportunity to give up to 5 groups. *North American/European* includes anyone who identified him/herself ethnically as Canadian, American, or European (including Russian). This category also included ethnically Australian or New Zealand respondents. *South/Southeast Asian* includes individuals who identified themselves ethnically as South or Southeast Asian (e.g., Pakistani, Indian, Japanese, Chinese, Korean, Thai, Cambodian, Vietnamese, Filipino, etc.). *Other* includes anyone who did not identify with North American/European or South/Southeast Asian.

Household income adequacy

A 4-level categorical variable (*low, middle, upper-middle, high*) based on information about total household income (from all sources before taxes) in the past 12 months and household size.⁴¹ The category definitions are presented below.

Table 1. Category definitions for household income level variable

Household income level	Number of persons in household		
	1–2	3–4	5+
Low	<\$20,000	<\$20,000	<\$30,000
Middle	\$20,000–29,999	\$20,000-39,999	\$30,000-59,999
Upper-middle	\$30,000–59,999	\$40,000-79,999	\$60,000-79,999
High	\$60,000+	\$80,000+	\$80,000+

Source: Statistics Canada, National Population Health Survey 1996–97; Household Component User's guide for the Public Use Microdata Files. Cat no. 82M0009GPE. Statistics Canada, Ottawa, 1998.

Immigrant status

Defined by place of birth. North American-born identifies all respondents who were born in North America (and Australia or New Zealand). Europe refers to anyone born in a European country (including Russia). Other includes those not born in North America or Europe. Respondents born in Europe or elsewhere were further categorized as to the years since immigrating to Canada: <20 years or 20+ years.

Knowledge

Factual and interpretive information leading to understanding, or useful for taking informed action.⁸⁰

Median

The value of a variable for which 50% of the respondents have a lower value and 50% a higher value.

Number of chronic conditions

Respondents were asked if they had been told by a doctor or health professional that they have one of six chronic conditions: diabetes, heart disease, high cholesterol, hypertension, diverticulitis or bowel disease (e.g., Crohn's disease, inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, celiac disease) and kidney disease. These specific conditions were considered because they may impact people's eating behaviours. Defined as none, or one or more of these six conditions.

Odds ratio (OR)

A measure of association between a particular outcome event and the presence of a certain factor(s). The OR is a relative measure of association; it is the ratio of the odds of an event in one group divided by the odds in another group. The odds of an event are the number of times it occurred (a) divided by the number of times it didn't (b), or a/b. In this report, an OR of 1.0 indicates there is no difference between the odds among those eating fewer than 5 servings per day and the odds among those eating 5 plus servings per day. An OR greater than 1.0 indicates the presence of a variable is more likely associated with eating fewer than 5 servings daily than with eating 5 or more per day, and an OR less than 1.0 signifies the variable is less likely associated with eating fewer than 5 per day compared with 5 or more servings daily. A crude OR describes the association between a single factor and the occurrence of the event of interest. An adjusted OR (AOR) is one that has been estimated after accounting for the simultaneous effect of other variables.

Canadian Cancer Society

Physical activity hours per week

The product of the number of days per week respondents did 10 minutes or more of physical activity that increased breathing or made the heart beat faster, and the amount of time per day. Those with no days on which they did at least 10 minutes of activity were classified in the <1 hour/week group. Activity that increases breathing or heart rates is considered to be of moderate to vigorous intensity.

Regions

Cancer planning regions that correspond to aggregations of census divisions, and are to some extent defined by the locations of specialized cancer treatment centres.

Self-efficacy

The confidence of an individual in their ability to take action, including his/her confidence in overcoming the barriers to performing that behaviour.⁸⁰ In this case, it is an individual's confidence in the likelihood that s/he will eat more vegetables and fruit in the next month. Respondents were asked to rank their confidence on a scale from 0 (no confidence) to 10 (totally confident). They were then categorized as having low (<6), moderate (6–8) or high (9–10) self-efficacy.

Smoking status

A current smoker was defined as anyone who had smoked at least 100 cigarettes in their lifetime and had had a cigarette within the last month, while those who had not had a cigarette in the last month but had smoked at least 100 cigarettes were considered former smokers. Non-smokers were defined as those respondents who had not smoked 100 cigarettes in their lifetime.³⁹

Stages of dietary change

Respondents were classified into 1 of the 5 stages: precontemplation (not considering changing behaviour), contemplation (thinking about changing), preparation (definitely planning to change, possible preliminary attempts), action (has changed behaviour in the short term) and maintenance (continuing with change).¹⁰⁰

Respondents who reported eating fewer than 5 servings of vegetables and fruit per day were classified as being in: precontemplation if they were not seriously considering eating more servings in the next 6 months, or contemplation if they were considering eating more servings in the next 6 months, or preparation if they planned to eat more servings during the next month. Respondents who reported eating 5 or more servings per day were categorized into either: action (eating 5 a day for 6 months).

24-hour total diet recall

A method of determining a recent day's food intake. Often used as a "gold standard" for evaluating other methods of assessing food intake, it consists of an interview wherein a registered dietitian elicits a list of all food and beverage items, and their amounts, eaten over a recent 24-hour period.

Vegetable and fruit servings per day

The sum of the number of servings of each food item consumed each day (see ONCPS vegetable and fruit intake question). Fried potato products were excluded. A serving is ¹/2 cup of potatoes, other vegetables, soups, fruit or juices or 1 cup of salad or tomato sauce. According to *Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating*, a serving is 1 medium size vegetable or fruit, ¹/2 cup of prepared/cooked vegetables or fruit, 1 cup of salad or ¹/2 cup of 100% fruit or vegetable juice.²⁵

Data Sources

Target Population

The target population for the ONCPS was Ontario adults aged 18–64 years. The survey sample was based on the 8 regions used by Cancer Care Ontario for planning and programming purposes. The regions consist of Northwest, Northeast, South, Southwest, Central West, Central East (Toronto), East and Southeast. Less populated regions were combined (namely, South/Southwest and East/Southeast). Northwest and Northeast were over-sampled instead of being combined because of their potential differences from other regions with respect to the parameters of interest due to their more severe climate, sparse populations and relative remoteness. Toronto Public Health provided financial support for a larger sample in Toronto (within Central East region) in order to address specific questions of interest for the city. A minimum of 375 surveys were completed in each of these geographic areas to generate an adequate sample size for regional comparisons.

Sampling Strategy and Data Collection

The sampling and data collection were carried out by the Institute for Social Research (ISR), York University, between June 2001 and May 2002. Separate samples were drawn for each of the regions. Each region's sample was randomly divided into 12 months to allow for seasonal and between-month variation in eating and activity behaviours.

Random digit dialing (RDD) procedures were used to select households within each region. The randomly generated phone numbers included unlisted households, "not-in-service" and "non-residential" numbers. A minimum of 14 calls were made to each telephone number and calls were attempted during the day and evening on weekdays and weekends in order to maximize chances of getting a completed interview. Households that refused to participate were contacted at least once after the initial refusal. Approximately 12% of households that refused upon initial contact completed interviews on the second attempt.

Individual survey respondents were selected randomly from within each sampled household. In the case where a household had more than one eligible adult (aged 18–64), the person with the next birthday was selected.

All interviewing was completed from ISR's centralized telephone facilities using computer-assisted telephone interviews (CATI) techniques. Each interview ranged from 20 to 25 minutes in duration. ISR supervisors could monitor each interview to verify that interviewers recorded respondents' answers correctly. Approximately 265 interviews were completed each month, and were offered in a number of languages including English, French, Portuguese, Chinese and Vietnamese. A total of 3,214 interviews were completed out of 5,116 estimated number of eligible households, or a response rate of 63%.

Ethics approval for the conduct of the survey was received from the University of Toronto.

Cancer Care Ontario



Methods

Sample population for the analysis

The ONCPS sample included 3,214 Ontarians. Of those, 31 were excluded because they did not fall within the age range of the survey (18–64 years) and 149 were excluded because they did not give a response to the food frequency portion of the survey. Thirty respondents were identified as "chronic non-responders" since they gave no response to more than 10 survey items. A further 7 respondents were excluded from the analysis because they and their house or roommates do not share food or food costs. The remaining sample size for the analysis was 2,997.

Household size weights

All data analyses were performed on weighted data in order to compensate for the unequal probabilities of respondent selection within a household and disproportionate population samples within strata (region).

A respondent's probability of being selected varies inversely with the number of people living in that household. To compensate for these unequal probabilities of selection, household size weights were created for the complete data set and each region.

Likewise, because some regions were over-sampled and others were under-sampled relative to their population, region weights were created and used when regional analyses were conducted to more accurately reflect the population distribution of the province. For the overall provincial analysis, a province weight was calculated as the product of the household weight for a given region and the corresponding region weight.

Item non-response and imputation

As is frequently the case with survey data, there were several survey items with no response. For the purposes of this analysis, respondents who refused to answer a question or replied "don't know" were coded as missing and were excluded from any calculations, unless otherwise noted. However, when appropriate, missing values were imputed in order to provide a more complete data set for analytical purposes. In the analysis of the ONCPS, two variables that had missing data were imputed: total household income and total number of portions per day of vegetables and fruit.

To impute the ONCPS data we used hot-deck procedures. Hot-deck imputation is a frequently used method.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁴ In this process, respondents are assigned values at random from respondents with the same set of characteristics. The record providing the value is known as the donor and the one receiving as the recipient. The process of selecting a donor is the most important component of the hot-deck procedure. Potential donors are sectioned into homogeneous groups called "cells" defined by many parameters (e.g., sex, age group, region, education, etc.). Recipients are matched to these homogeneous cells of donors based on their characteristics. The characteristics should be highly correlated with the variable being imputed. The basic underlying assumption is that the value of the variable being estimated is not conditional (i.e., moderated by) the missing data mechanism (e.g., all those with missing income data are not different from the respondents with reported income data). We implemented the hot-deck using a sequence of data steps created in SAS, employing the random selection capabilities of the program.

There were two separate questions on the survey asking respondents' total household income: a continuous income question and a categorical income question. If the continuous income question was refused (roughly 50%), the respondent was asked to put his or her income into a category. If they refused to categorize their income the data were completely missing (roughly 20%). Answers from the first question were incorporated into the categories of the second question and this categorical income variable was then imputed. The variables used to impute income are described below:

- Sex (1. Male, 5. Female)
- Age group (1.18-34 years, 2.35-49 years, 3.50-64 years)
- Region (1. East/Southeast, 2. Central East, 3. Central West, 4. South/Southwest, 5. Northeast, 6. Northwest)
- Education level (1. Less than high school, 2. High school, 3. Some post-secondary, 4. University)

Household size was initially included in the variable list, but in the end was not used because the additional variable levels meant there were hot-deck cells with no donors.

The categorical income question was ordered in the following manner:

- 1. <10,000
- 2. 10,000-19,999
- 3. 20,000-29,999
- 4. 30,000-39,999
- 5. 40,000–49,999
- 6. 50,000-59,999
- 7. 60,000–69,999
- 8. 70,000-79,999
- 9. 80,000-89,999
- 10. 90,000-99,999
- 11. 100,000 or more

Missing vegetable and fruit portions were also imputed. Approximately 5% of respondents had missing portions data. The same procedure used to impute income was used for portions data. The variables used to impute portions were:

- Sex
- Age group
- Vegetable and fruit times/day (continuous)

Limitations of the hot-deck procedure are discussed in the Limitations section.

In addition to income and vegetable and fruit portions, several other variables had a high proportion (i.e., >5%) of non-response. Variables with missing levels of note are: knowledge about vegetable and fruit recommended intakes (20.9%); postal code (from which urban and rural categories were derived – 11.2%); attitude toward vegetable and fruit intake (8.7%); vegetables and fruit prevent cancer (5.2%); and BMI among women (6.8%) (largely due to missing weight data, although overall it was only 3.9%). None of these were imputed due to the specific nature of the variables.

It is possible that missingness among all of these variables is not random and likely is the result of unmeasured factors. Therefore the impact of missingness in these variables is difficult to quantify and this should be considered when evaluating the results around these variables.

Canadian Cancer Society

Statistical Analysis

Survey data were converted into a SAS¹⁰⁵ dataset, which was used for managing the data and for generating the descriptive statistics, employing the appropriate sample weights to account for the sample design. The statistical program Stata (version 7.0) was used for calculating tests of independence (chi square) and for the logistic regression analyses.¹⁰⁶ Stata is capable of accounting for the survey design (weights, strata or clustering) and therefore produces unbiased standard error estimates. The svytab command was used to calculate chi square values and the svylogit procedure was used for the logistic regression analysis. The test of independence used in Stata for crosstabulations is based on the Pearson chi square statistics. To account for the survey design, the statistic is converted into an F statistic with noninteger degrees of freedom using a second-order Rao and Scott¹⁰⁷ correction. Stata also uses pseudo-maximum-likelihood methods to calculate logistic regression point estimates (i.e., the estimates are those from a weighted "standard" maximum-likelihood estimates) and robust variance estimates to take account of the survey design. These adjustments effectively increase standard errors and represent the most conservative significance estimates.^{107,108}

Initially descriptive univariate statistics for each variable were calculated. Sex-specific cross-tabulations were used to estimate the prevalence of vegetable and fruit intake (0-2, >2-<5, and 5+ servings per day). Variables that were dichotomous or categorical and summarized as proportions or percentages were examined for differences among demographic subgroups using chi square tests of independence.

Multiple logistic regression models were used to calculate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) for associations between food insufficiency and the survey sociodemographic, health-related, and psychosocial variables. Stepwise backward-elimination⁵⁶ was used to identify the most important variables associated with the primary outcome. Initially, crude ORs were obtained. Then, all independent variables were included in a "full model." Variables were then removed based on their significance to the model. As a consequence of the pseudo likelihoods used in Stata, the "standard" likelihood-ratio tests are not valid. Instead, Stata uses an approximation by calculating adjusted Wald tests in order to compare logistic regression models. Only those variables significant at the 5% level were kept in the model. The variable with the largest p-value with each run of the model was removed until only those variables that had a statistically significant impact on the model were kept (i.e., the most parsimonious model was attained). The variable for age group was forced into the model.

Multiple logistic regression was also used to estimate the odds that a food insufficient individual would report a poor diet attitude or behaviour [i.e., knowledge about vegetables and fruit (don't know 5+ recommended), attitudes about vegetables and fruit (personally don't need 5+ to stay healthy), (low) self-efficacy about eating more vegetables and fruit, and eat <5 servings of vegetables and fruit daily], or a health-related outcome [i.e., overweight or obesity (BMI \ge 25), or physical inactivity (<3 hours per week)]. Individuals who were categorized as food sufficient were used as the reference group. Final models were derived using the stepwise backward-elimination change-inestimate method.¹⁰⁹ In this approach, variables are selected based on their relative or absolute changes in the estimated "exposure" effect. Variables were kept in the model if their deletion resulted in a change in the OR for the outcome of interest and food insufficiency by 10% or more. Potential confounders were identified a priori based on a review of the literature. All models were stratified by sex, with the exception of self-efficacy as the outcome, where the sexes were combined because of small sample sizes. Models were determined independently for each sex. A final model that included only the significant variables (and/or significant confounding variables) for each sex was used to be able to make comparisons between the two.

In this report, two-tailed p-values less than 0.05 were considered significant and 95% confidence intervals (Cls) were calculated for all ORs. Caution should still be used when interpreting the results when significance of a given statistical comparison is significant at only p<.05. Results where p<.01 and p<.001 are less likely to be spurious.

The cut-points for diet, body weight and physical activity used in this analysis are based on the Health Canada recommendations. Interpretation of the distribution of responses may reflect the methodological choice of using these cut-points. From a public health perspective, however, it is important to measure people's behaviours as they relate to healthy lifestyle recommendations.

Limitations

The cross-sectional nature of this study makes it impossible to draw causal inferences about the associations observed. For example, current smoking status was found to be a significant "predictor" of food insufficiency, however the reverse could also be true. Without longitudinal data, no temporal or causal relationships among variables examined in the ONCPS can be inferred.

Attempting to survey only some and not all of the units in the survey population is a concern when conducting any survey. Since the ONCPS was conducted by telephone, only individuals living in households with a telephone were surveyed. The ONCPS therefore likely under-represents certain groups for which health-related behaviours are important to assess, such as members of First Nations groups and those living in poverty. Furthermore, although the sample is largely representative of the adult population of Ontario with respect to sex, age group, region, education and household income, the sample over-represents individuals older than 24 years born in Canada and who have North American or European ancestry. The sample also over-represents men aged 25–44 who were born in or identify ethnically as East, South East, or South Asian, men aged 25–44 who consider themselves ethnically African.

Bias due to measurement error is another concern when conducting surveys. Data in the ONCPS are self-reported. The accuracy of results depends upon the willingness and ability of respondents to recall and report complete and accurate details regarding the diet- and health-related issues they were asked about. Therefore, some behaviours and health outcomes will be under-reported by individuals (likely those that are socially unacceptable) while others may be overreported. This can then attenuate, inflate or moderate relationships between variables.¹⁰⁹

Measurement error might also arise in this analysis since all members of food insufficient households may not necessarily be food insufficient. The person chosen to respond to the survey provided information on behalf of all members of the household. The amount of food insufficiency was applied to everyone in the household, whether or not they had the same experience. An attempt was made to minimize this possible bias by excluding those not sharing food expenses with other members of the household, thus increasing the likelihood that all members share the same experiences.

Limitations to the data about vegetable and fruit consumption and steps taken to overcome these have been noted elsewhere.²² Briefly, social desirability bias and under-reporting of intake are well documented in food frequency surveys.^{110–113} One recent review of survey

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



instruments measuring vegetable and fruit intake in adults demonstrated that instruments with more vegetable and fruit items, mixed vegetable dishes and questions on portion sizes were more closely associated with total vegetable and fruit intake.¹¹⁴ The ONCPS did include more options for vegetables and fruits and measured portions, which should mitigate some of the bias of self-reported data.

In addition, to optimize the quality of data, a calibration study was conducted to determine how the food frequency screener used in the ONCPS compared to three repeat 24-hour recalls for dietary assessment. A total of 184 individuals who originally participated in the ONCPS completed the calibration study. There were correlation coefficients of 0.34 and 0.39 for frequency of consumption and estimated number of servings. The calibration study did determine that the screener overestimated the number of servings of vegetables and fruit consumed compared with 24-hour recalls with respect to portions.

Respondent recall regarding physical activity is also likely a source of inaccuracy. One validation study of the 7-day Physical Activity Recall (PAR) telephone interview survey indicated that participants overreported their level of physical activity, in particular for moderate and high activities, as compared with accelerometer data.¹¹⁵ Perhaps one of the challenges with these and other instruments is the limited number of options for physical activity available to respondents. The physical activity measures included in the ONCPS included a broader range of activities than has been used in other self-report surveys.

Respondents may also give socially desirable answers to questions on issues such as smoking and weight. For example, self-reported height and weight (used to calculate BMI) may underestimate the prevalence of overweight.^{116,117} Furthermore, self-reported health status (assessed using a 5-point scale from poor to excellent) data may not be accurate, since the responses were not verified by an independent source. However, the reliability of such self-assessments has been found to be as good as or better than measures such as functional ability and psychological well-being.^{118–120} Still, it is not possible to know if respondents who reported a diagnosed chronic condition had actually received a professional diagnosis, and this should be considered when interpreting the results.

Body mass index (BMI) is subject to measurement error in addition to inaccuracies arising from self-reported height and weight. First, BMI is measured at one point in time. Individuals who experience weight change, either gain or loss, within or between BMI categories, may also be at risk.¹²¹ BMI does not account for weight variation due to differences in body build and body proportion in individuals, between sexes and across ethnic groups.^{121–124} Moreover, BMI is not appropriate for use with pregnant and lactating women, who may have been included in the ONCPS sample.

Non-response error is another limitation for consideration. This results when people who respond to a survey are different from sampled individuals who did not respond, in a way relevant to the study.¹⁰⁹ If non-responders are less likely than responders to meet the recommended dietary guidelines our results may actually overestimate the proportion of Ontarians who meet these health goals. However, we do not have specific information on those individuals who did not respond regarding behavioural and psychosocial factors (e.g., vegetable and fruit intake, perception of cost and availability of vegetables and fruit, etc.), and therefore we cannot compare between responders and non-responders regarding these characteristics.

During data processing, imputation was used to complete data that was not obtained. Although imputation can alter basic distributional summary statistics from the statistics calculated using complete cases only, it should not transform the relationships among variables.

The hot-deck imputation method employed here has some limitations. First, if there are too many variable levels used in the hot-deck, then many of the cells will not be populated with donors. The more variable levels that are used (i.e., the more hot-deck cells), the more donors are needed for the hot-deck to work. Therefore, it may not be possible to use all correlated variables, which may attenuate the accuracy of the imputed value(s). Second, hot-deck imputation does not restore sampling variability, an important consequence when calculating standard errors and confidence limits around point estimates. Third, it assumes ignorable non-response. Often values are missing for items based on the nature of the item itself and/or for unmeasurable factors. In these instances, the accuracy of the hot-deck procedure may become attenuated.

Canadian Cancer Society

REFERENCES

- Cancer Care Ontario. An Ounce of Prevention. Ontario's Cancer Prevention Blueprint 2000 [online]. Available from: http://www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/CCO%20Blueprint.pdf [cited 19 April 2004].
- Cancer 2020 Steering Committee. Targeting Cancer: An Action Plan for Cancer Prevention and Detection. Cancer 2020 Summary Report. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society, 2003. Available from: http://www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/Cancer2020 CCS-1513Report_summary.pdf [cited 19 April 2004].
- Agriculture and AgriFood Canada. Canada's Action Plan for Food Security: A Response to the World Food Summit [online]. Ottawa, ON: Agriculture and AgriFood Canada, 1998. Available from http://www.agr.gc.ca/misb/fsb/fsap/fsape.html [cited 10 October 2003].
- Rome Declaration on World Food Security and World Food Summit Plan of Action [online]. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1996. Available from http://www.fao.org/docrep/003/w3613e/w3613e00.htm [cited 14 November 2003].
- Canadian International Development Agency. Canadian Food Aid: Global and Local Dimensions 2003. Available from http://www.acdi-cida.gc.ca/cida_ind.nsf/vLUallDocByIDEn/ 0159C7FBC4AA2D5C85256CC9007A7BED?OpenDocument [cited 14 October 2003].
- Dietitians of Canada, BC Region and Community Nutritionists Council of British Columbia. The Cost of Eating in British Columbia [online]. Vancouver, BC: Dietitians of Canada, BC Region, October 2003. Available from http://www.dietitians.ca/news/downloads/cost_of_eating_ in_BC_2003.pdf [cited 15 October 2003].
- Ontario Public Health Association Food Security Working Group. A Systematic Approach to Community Food Security: A Role for Public Health [online]. Toronto, ON: OPHA, November 2002. Available from http://www.opha.on.ca/ppres/2002-01_pp.pdf [cited 14 October 2003].
- Department of Indian and Northern Affairs Canada. Food Mail Program [online]. Available from http://www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/ps/nap/air/index_e.html [cited 4 February 2005].
- Joint Steering Committee. Nutrition for Health: An Agenda for Action [online]. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada, 1996. Available from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hpfb-dgpsa/ onpp-bppn/nutrition_health_agenda_e.html [cited 14 November 2003].
- World Health Organization. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases. WHO Technical Report Series No. 916. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2003.
- 11. Radimer KL, Olson CM, Green JC, Campbell CC, Habicht JP. Understanding Hunger and Developing Indicators to Assess it in Women and Children. J Nutr Ed 1992;24(1):36S–45S.
- 12. Canadian International Development Agency. Food Security: Working Paper for the 4As. 1991.
- World Food Program. WFP Mission Statement [online]. Available from http://www.wfp.org/index.asp?section=1 [cited 14 October 2003].

- 14. Riches G. Food Banks and Food Security: Welfare Reform, Human Rights and Social Policy. Lessons from Canada? Soc Policy Adm 2002;36(6):648–63.
- Tarasuk VS, MacLean H. The Institutionalization of Foodbanks in Canada, a Public Health Concern. Can J Public Health 1990;81:331–2.
- 16. Anderson SA (Ed). Core Indicators of Nutritional State for Hard to Measure Populations. J Nutr 1990; 120(Suppl):1575–6.
- Sullivan T, Evans W, Angus H, Hudson A. Strengthening the Quality of Cancer Services in Ontario. Ottawa, ON: CHA Press, 2003.
- Schabas R. Primary Prevention of Cancer: Background Paper [online]. Toronto, ON: Schabas Associates Inc., February 2003. Available from http://209.217.127.72/cscc/pdf/pprev/ CancerPrevention_Background%20Paper%20-%20Final.pdf [cited 21 November 2003].
- Kogevinas M, Pearce N, Susser M, Boffetta P. Social Inequalities and Cancer. Scientific Publication No 138. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1997.
- 20. American Institute for Cancer Research and World Cancer Research Fund. Food, Nutrition and Cancer Prevention: A Global Perspective, Summary Report [online]. Available from http://www.aicr.org/research/report_summary.lasso [cited 14 October 2003].
- Institute of Medicine. Curry SJ, Byers T, Hewitt M, Eds. Fulfilling the Potential of Cancer Prevention and Early Detection. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2003. Also available from http://www.nap.edu/books/0309082544/html/.
- 22. Cancer Care Ontario. Insight on Cancer: News and Information on Nutrition and Cancer Prevention. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society (Ontario Division), 2003. Available from http://www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/InsightNutrition.pdf.
- 23. Rose G. The Strategy of Preventive Medicine. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press, 1992.
- 24. Makarchuk MJ, Beckermann K, Goettler F. Toronto Results of the Ontario Nutrition and Cancer Prevention Survey. Toronto, ON: Toronto Public Health, August 11, 2004.
- Health Canada. Canada's Food Guide to Healthy Eating for People Four Years and Over [online]. Catalogue no. H39-252/1992E. Ottawa, ON: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada, 1997. Available from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hpfb-dgpsa/onpp-bppn/ food_guide_rainbow_e.html [cited 14 November 2003].
- 26. USDA Economic Research Service. Six-item Short Form of the Food Security Survey Module [online]. Available from http://www.ers.usda.gov/Briefing/FoodSecurity/surveytools/ FS_SHORT.pdf [cited 11 February 2004].
- Blumberg SJ, Bialostosky K, Briefel RR, Hamilton WL. The Effectiveness of a Short Form of the Household Food Security Scale. Am J Public Health 1999;89(8):1231–4;41.
- 28. Nord M. Personal communication on comparable scaling of Statistics Canada food insecurity instrument to United States Food Security Survey. 8 April 2002.

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca



- Surh YJ. Cancer Chemoprevention with Dietary Phytochemicals [online]. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3:768-80. Available from http://www.nature.com/cgi-taf/DynaPage.taf?file=/nrc/ journal/v3/n10/full/nrc1189_fs.html&filetype=PDF [cited 24 November 2003].
- Terry P, Terry JB, Wolk A. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in the Prevention of Cancer: An Update. J Intern Med 2001;250:280–90.
- 31. PHRED: Public Health Research, Education & Development Program. Report on the Health Status of Residents of Ontario. February 2000.
- 32. Di Ruggiero E, Roberts M, Wright M, Innes M. Factors Influencing Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Consumption of Vegetables and Fruit in Ontario Women: Implications for Further Research and Practice. Submitted for publication, 2004.
- 33. Snelling S, Beyers J, Froats-Edmond C, Harbul BA. Influences and Promotion Strategies for Fruit and Vegetable Consumption in Northern Ontario. Sudbury, ON: Public Health Research, Education and Development/Sudbury District Health Unit, August 2000.
- 34. Thunder Bay District Health Unit. The Cost of Eating in the Thunder Bay District Report 2002. Thunder Bay, ON: Thunder Bay District Health Unit, 2003.
- York Region Health Services. The Price of the Nutritious Food Basket in York Region – 2002. Newmarket, ON: York Region Health Services, 2003.
- Toronto Public Health. The Cost of the Nutritious Food Basket in Toronto – 2002 [online]. Available from http://www.city.toronto.on.ca/health/pdf/nutritious_food_ basket.pdf [cited 11 February 2004].
- Ontario Public Health Association. Nutritious Food Basket Programs Across Ontario [online]. Available from http://www.opha.on.ca/foodnet/initiatives/nfb.html [cited 22 December 2004].
- Halton Region Health Department and the Halton Social Planning Council. The Price of Eating Well in Halton – The Nutritious Food Basket, 2002. Oakville, ON: Halton Region Health Department, December 2002.
- 39. Brown H. Personal communication about the weekly cost of a nutritious food basket in Ontario. 14 February 2004.
- 40. USDA Economic Research Service. Food Security in the United States: Conditions and Trends [online]. Available from http://www.ers.usda.gov/briefing/foodsecurity/trends/ [cited 1 November 2003].
- Statistics Canada. National Population Health Survey 1996–97: Household Component User's Guide for the Public Use Microdata Files. Catalogue no. 82M0009GPE. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, 1998.
- 42. National Council of Welfare. Poverty Profile 1997. Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada. Ottawa, ON, 1999.
- Che J, Chen J. Food Insecurity in Canadian Households [online]. Health Rep 2001; 12(4):11–22. Available from http://www.statcan.ca/english/indepth/ 82-003/feature/hrar2001012004s0a01.pdf [cited 14 October 2003].

- 44. Vozoris NT, Tarasuk VS. Household Food Insufficiency Is Associated with Poorer Health. J Nutr 2003;133(1):120–26.
- 45. Rose D. Economic Determinants and Dietary Consequences of Food Insecurity in the United States. J Nutr 1999;129(S):S517–20.
- Bickel G, Nord M, Price C, Hamilton W, Cook J. Guide to Measuring Household Food Security [online]. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service, March 2000. Available from http://www.fns.usda.gov/fsec/FILES/FSGuide.pdf [cited 3 March 2004].
- 47. Townsend MS, Peerson J, Love B, Achterberg C, Murphy SP. Food Insecurity Is Positively Related to Overweight in Women. J Nutr 2001;131:1738–45.
- Statistics Canada. Immigrant Population by Place of Birth, Provinces and Territories, April 23, 2003 [online]. Available from http://www.statcan.ca/english/Pgdb/demo35b.htm [cited 29 January 2004].
- 49. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit. Indicators of OTS Progress. Special Reports: Monitoring and Evaluation Series, 2002–2003 (Vol. 9, No.3). Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, February 2004.
- 50. U.S. Surgeon General. The Health Consequences of Smoking: Cancer. A Report of the Surgeon General. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1982.
- Young-Hwan J, Talmage DA, Role LW. Nicotinic Receptor-Mediated Effects on Appetite and Food Intake. J Neurobiol 2002;53(4):618–32.
- 52. Shields M, Shooshtari S. Determinants of Self-Perceived Health. Health Reports 2001;13(1)35–52.
- Tarasuk VS. Household Food Insecurity with Hunger Is Associated with Women's Food Intakes, Health and Household Circumstances. J Nutr 2001;131:2670–76.
- Gillman MW, Cupples LA, Gagnon D, Posner BW, Ellison RC, Castelli WP, Wolf PA. Protective Effect of Fruits and Vegetables on Development of Stroke in Men. JAMA 1995;273(14):1113–7.
- 55. Jenkins DJA. Diet & Chronic Disease: Potential Impact and Unanswered Questions. Toronto, ON: Cancer Care Ontario, 2001. Available at http://www.cancercare.on.ca/pdf/ DietandChronicDiseaseReport.pdf.
- 56. Greenland S. Modeling and Variable Selection in Epidemiologic Analysis. Am J Public Health 1989;79(3):340–9.
- Canadian Foundation for Dietetic Research, Dietitians of Canada, and Kraft Canada Inc. Speaking of Food and Eating: A Consumer Perspective. Toronto, ON: Canadian Foundation for Dietetic Research, 1997.
- Statistics Canada. Overview of the Time Use of Canadians in 1998 [online]. Ministry of Industry, Ottawa, 1999. Available from http://www.statcan.ca/english/freepub/12F0080XIE/12F0080XIE. pdf [cited 29 February 2004].
- 59. Dietz WH. Does Hunger Cause Obesity? Pediatrics 1995;95:766–767.
- Frongillo EA Jr, Olson CM, Rauschenbach BS, Kendall A. Nutritional Consequences of Food Insecurity in a Rural New York State County. Discussion Paper no 1120-97. Madison, WI: Institute For Research on Poverty, University of Wisconsin, 1997.

Canadian Cancer Society

- Statistics Canada. Canadian Community Health Survey: A First Look, 2000/01 [online]. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, May 8, 2002. Available from http://www.statcan.ca/Daily/English/020508/d020508a.htm [cited 4 February 2004].
- Gilmore J. Body Mass Index and Health [online]. Health Rep 1999;11(1):31–43. Available from http://www.statcan.ca/english/indepth/82-003/ feature/hrar1999011001s2a03.pdf [cited 15 November 2003].
- Friedenreich CM. Physical Activity and Cancer Prevention: From Observational to Intervention Research. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2001;10:287–301.
- 64. Marrett L, Theis B, Ashbury FD, Expert Panel. Workshop Report: Physical Activity and Cancer Prevention. Chronic Disease Can 2000;21(4):143–9.
- McIntyre L, Glanville NT, Raine KD, Dayle JB, Anderson B, Battaglia N. (2003). Do Low-Income Lone Mothers Compromise Their Nutrition to Feed Their Children? CMAJ 2003;168(3):686–691.
- McIntyre L, Glanville NT, Officer S, Anderson B, Raine KD, Dayle J B. Food Insecurity of Low-Income Lone Mothers and Their Children in Atlantic Canada. Can J Public Health 2002;93(6):411–415.
- Tarasuk V, Maclean H. The Food Problems of Low-Income Single Mothers: An Ethnographic Study. Can Home Economics J 1990;40(2):76–82.
- Badun C, Evers S, Hooper M. Food Security and Nutritional Concerns of Parents in an Economically Disadvantaged Community. Journal of the Canadian Dietetic Association 1995;56(2):75–80.
- 69. Dobson B, Beardsworth A, Keil T, Walker R. Diet, Choice and Poverty: Social, Cultural and Nutritional Aspects of Food Consumption Among Low-Income Families. London, UK: Family Policy Studies Centre and the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 1994.
- 70. Dowler E, Turner S, Dobson B. Poverty Bites: Food, Health and Poor Families. London, UK: CPAG, 2001.
- 71. Dowler E, Calvert C. Nutrition and Diet in Lone-Parent Families in London. London, UK: Family Policy Studies Centre, 1995.
- Durand-Gasselin S, Luquet F-M. La Vie Quotidienne Autour de L'alimentation : Les Modes de Vie, les Représentations Socio-Culturelles et les Comportements Alimentaires de 55 Familles à Faibles Revenus en Banlieue Parisienne. Médecine et Nutrition 2000;1:40–52.
- 73. Fitchen J. Hunger, Malnutrition, and Poverty in the Contemporary United States: Some Observations on Their Social and Cultural Context. In: Counihan C, van Esterik P, Eds. Food and Culture: A Reader. New York, NY: Routledge, 1997. pp. 384–401.
- 74. Hamelin A-M, Habicht J-P, Beaudry M. Food Insecurity: Consequences for the Household and Broader Social Implications. J Nutr 1999;129:5255–5285.
- 75. Hamelin A-M, Beaudry M, Habicht J-P. (2002). Characterization of Household Food Insecurity in Quebec: Food and Feelings. Soc Sci Med 2002;54(1):119–132.

- Hitchman C, Christie I, Harrison M, Lang T. Inconvenience Food: The Struggle to Eat Well on a Low Income. London, UK: Demos, 2002.
- Tarasuk V, Beaton G. Household Food Insecurity and Hunger Among Families Using Food Banks. Can J Public Health 1999;90:109–113.
- 78. Travers KD. The Social Organization of Nutritional Inequities. Soc Sci Med 1996; 43(4):543–553.
- Wehler CA, Scott RI, Anderson J J. The Community Childhood Hunger Identification Project: A Model of Domestic Hunger-Demonstration Project in Seattle, Washington. J Nutr Educ 1992;24(1):29S–35S.
- 80. Glanz K, Lewis FM, Rimer BK. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research and Practice. 2nd Edition. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, 1997.
- Ladoucer L. Personal communication about the Food Mail Program. 29 October 2003.
- 82. Milio N. Promoting Health Through Public Policy. Philadelphia, PA: FA Davis, 1981.
- 83. Coveney J. Why Food Policy Is Critical to Public Health. Crit Public Health 2003;13(2):99–105.
- Ontario Government Standing Committee on Social Development. Report on Food Banks. 2nd Session, 34th Parliament, 39 Elizabeth II. Toronto, ON: Queen's Part, 1990.
- 85. Ontario Task Force on the Primary Prevention of Cancer. Recommendations for the Primary Prevention of Cancer: Report of the Ontario Task Force on the Primary Prevention of Cancer. Toronto, ON: Ontario Ministry of Health, March 1995.
- Lavis JN, Ross SE, Stoddart GL, Hohenadel JM, McLeod CB, Evans RG. Do Canadian Civil Servants Care About the Health of Populations? Am J Public Health 2003;93(4):658–663.
- 87. Sorbara G. 2004 Ontario Budget: Budget Papers. Plan for Change. Toronto, ON: Queen's Printer for Ontario, 2004.
- Bartleman JK. Throne Speech: Strengthening the Foundation for Change [online]. Toronto, ON: Government of Ontario, November 20, 2003. Available from http://www.premier.gov.on.ca/english/ Library/ThroneSpeech112003En.pdf [cited 23 June 2004].
- 89. Hay D. School Based Feeding Programs: A Good Choice for Children? Ottawa, ON: Health Canada, 2000.
- Fergenbaum J, Innes M, Roberts M, Marrett LD. A causal modelling approach to the social determinants of health: the relationship between food security, total fruit and vegetable intake and obesity among women. Ph.D. program course paper. University of Toronto, 2004.
- 91. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit. Monitoring the Ontario Tobacco Strategy: Progress Toward Our Goals, 2000/2001: 7th Annual Monitoring Report [online]. Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, November 2001. Available from http://www.otru.org/pdf/7mr/7mr_eng.pdf [cited 6 April 2004].

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca



- Ontario Tobacco Research Unit. 8th Annual Monitoring Report, Part 3: Indicators of Progress [online]. Special Reports: Monitoring the Ontario Tobacco Strategy, 2001/2002 (Vol. 8, Pt.3). Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, November 2002. Available from http://www.otru.org/pdf/8mr/8mr_eng_part3.pdf [cited 6 April 2004].
- Potter JD. Diet and Cancer: Possible Explanations for the Higher Risk of Cancer in the Poor. In: Kogevinas M, Pearce N, Susser M, Boffetta P, Eds. Social Inequalities and Cancer. Lyon, France: IARC, 1997. pp. 265–83.
- 94. Mittman N, Seung SJ. Smoking Cessation in Canada. Toronto, ON: Hope Research Centre, 2003.
- Russell B. Icarus or the Future of Science [online]. Transcribed by Shalizi CR, Berkeley, CA, 11 June 1994]. New York, NY: EP Dutton, 1924. Available from: http://cscs.umich.edu/~crshalizi/Icarus.html [cited 23 March 2004].
- 96. Pérez CE. Health Status and Health Behaviour Among Immigrants. Health Rep 2002; 13(Suppl):89–100.
- Hussein K. Food Security: Rights, Livelihoods and the World Food Summit Five Years Later. Soc Policy Admin 2002;36(6):626–47.
- Stcherbatsky F Th. Translation of Dharmakirti's Nyaya-bindu and Dharmottara's Nyaya-bindu-tika. In: Buddhist Logic Volume 1, Part 1 (Pramanya-Vada or Reality and Knowledge), 1931; reprinted Delhi, India: Low Price Publications, 1999. pp. 59–61.
- Adlaf EM, Ialomiteanu A. CAMH Monitor eReport: Addiction and Mental Health Indicators Among Ontario Adults in 2001, and Changes Since 1997 [online]. CAMH Research Doc. Series No. 12. Toronto, ON: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. Available from: http://www.ocat.org/pdf/CAMH_report_prevalence.pdf [cited 7 May 2004].
- Glanz K, Patterson R, Kristal A, DiClemente C, Heimendinger J, Linnan L. Stages of Change in Adopting Healthy Diets: Fat, Fiber, and Correlates of Nutrient Intake. Health Educ Q 1994;21:499–519.
- 101. Statistics Canada. Data Quality Guidelines: Imputation. Catalogue no. 12-539-XIE. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, 2003.
- 102. Fuller WA, Kim JK. Hot Deck Imputation for the Response Model. Ottawa: Proceedings of Statistics Canada Symposium 2001. Achieving data quality in a statistical agency: a methodological perspective.
- 103. Little RJA, Rubin DB. Statistical Analysis with Missing Data. New York, NY: Wiley, 1987.
- 104. Kalton G, Kasprzyk D. The Treatment of Missing Survey Data. Surv Methodology 1986; 12:1–16.
- 105. SAS Institute Inc. SAS/STAT Software: Changes and Enhancements Through Release 8.02. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., 1999–2001.
- 106. Stata Corp. Stata Statistical Software. Release 7.0. College Station, TX: Stata Corp, 2001.
- 107. Rao JNK and Scott AJ. On Chi-Squared Tests for Multiway Contingency Tables with Cell Proportions Estimated from Survey Data. Ann Stats 1984;12:46–60.

- Eltinge JL, Sribney WM. svy1: Some Basic Concepts for Design-Based Analysis of Complex Survey Data. Stata Tech Bull 1996;31:3–6.
- 109. Dillman DA. Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method. 2nd ed. Toronto, ON: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2000.
- 110. Warwick PM. Trends in Energy and Macronutrient Intake, Body Weight, Level of Physical Activity, and Energy Expenditure in Relation to Dietary Validity in Female Students – 1988 to 2003. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2003;12 Suppl:S56.
- 111. Hebert JR, Patterson RE, Gorfine M, Ebbeling CB, St Jeor ST, Chlebowski RT. Differences Between Estimated Caloric Intake in the Women's Health Initiative. Ann Epidemiol 2003;13(9):629–37.
- 112. Novotny JA, Rumpler WV, Riddick H, Hebert JR, Rhodes D, Judd JT, Baer DJ, McDowell M, Briefel R. Personality Characteristics as Predictors of Underreporting of Energy Intake on 24-Hour Dietary Recall Interviews. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103(9):1146–51.
- 113. Scagliusi FB, Polacow VO, Artioli GG, Benatti FB, Lancha AH Jr. Selective Underreporting of Energy Intake in Women: Magnitude, Determinants, and Effect of Training. J Am Diet Assoc 2003;103(10):1306–13.
- 114. Kim DJ, Holowaty EJ. Brief, Validated Survey Instruments for the Measurement of Fruit and Vegetable Intakes in Adults: A Review. Prev Med 2003;36(4):440–7.
- 115. Hayden-Wade HA, Coleman KJ, Sallis JF, Armstrong C. Validation of the Telephone and In-Person Interview Versions of the 7-Day PAR. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003 May;35(5):801–9.
- 116. Kuskowska-Wolk A, Karlsson P, Stolt M et al. The Predictive Validity of Body Mass Index Based on Self-Reported Weight and Height. Int J Obesity 1989;13(4):441–53.
- 117. Rowland ML. Self-Reported Weight and Height. Amer J Clin Nutr 1990;52(6):1125–33.
- 118. Lundberg O, Manderbacka K. Assessing Reliability of a Measure of Self-Rated Health. Scand J Soc Med 1996;24(3):218–24.
- 119. O'Brien Cousins S. Validity and Reliability of Self-Reported Health of Persons Aged 70 and Older. Health Care for Women International 1997;18(2):165–74.
- Maddox GL, Douglass EB. Self-Assessment of Health: A Longitudinal Study of Elderly Subjects. J Health Soc Behav 1973;14(1):87–93.
- 121. Health Canada. Canadian Guidelines for Body Weight Classification in Adults. Catalogue no. H49-179/2003E. Ottawa, ON: Health Canada, 2003.
- 122. World Health Organization. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Report of a WHO Consultation on Obesity. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, 2000.
- 123. Deurenberg P, Yap M, van Staveren WA. Body Mass Index and Percent Body Fat: A Meta Analysis Among Different Ethnic Groups. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1998;22(12):1164–71.
- 124. Deurenberg-Yap M, Schmidt G, va Staveren WA, Deurenberg P. The Paradox of Low Body Mass Index and High Body Fat Percentage Among Chinese, Malays and Indians in Singapore. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000;24(8):1011–7.

Canadian Cancer Society

Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca Canadian Cancer Society
www.cancer.ca

insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005



insight on cancer volume two - supplement two • april 2005 Canadian Cancer Society www.cancer.ca Cancer Care Ontario www.cancercare.on.ca

59

INSIGHT ON CANCER

news and information on nutrition and cancer prevention volume two – supplement two: Ontario's food security and cancer prevention



Cancer Care Ontario is dedicated to improving the quality of care for cancer patients by creating a seamless journey for them as they access the highest quality programs in cancer prevention, early detection, treatment, supportive care, palliative care and research. Working with partners, including the Cancer Quality Council of Ontario, CCO will measure, evaluate and report on quality improvement in the cancer system. Cancer Care Ontario is a policy, planning and research organization that advises government on all aspects of provincial cancer care.

Insight on Cancer can be found on both the Canadian Cancer Society's and Cancer Care Ontario's websites. Please visit the "library section" of the Ontario pages of the Canadian Cancer Society's website located at www.cancer.ca, or visit www.cancercare.on.ca.



Canadian Société Cancer canadienne Society du cancer

The Canadian Cancer Society is a national, communitybased organization of volunteers whose mission is the eradication of cancer and the enhancement of the quality of life of people living with cancer.

The Canadian Cancer Society, in partnership with the National Cancer Institute of Canada, achieves its mission through research, education, patient services and advocacy for healthy public policy. These efforts are supported by volunteers and staff and funds raised in communities across Canada.